# Western Michigan University ScholarWorks at WMU

Master's Theses

ESTERN

Graduate College

4-2019

# Habitat Suitability of the Mountain Pine Beetle in Alberta, Canada under Future Climate Scenarios

Nathalie Woloszyn

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/masters\_theses

Part of the Geography Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Woloszyn, Nathalie, "Habitat Suitability of the Mountain Pine Beetle in Alberta, Canada under Future Climate Scenarios" (2019). *Master's Theses*. 4296. https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/masters\_theses/4296

This Masters Thesis-Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate College at ScholarWorks at WMU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Master's Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks at WMU. For more information, please contact wmu-scholarworks@wmich.edu.





# HABITAT SUITABILIY OF THE MOUNTAIN PINE BEETLE IN ALBERTA, CANADA UNDER FUTURE CLIMATE SCENARIOS

by

Nathalie Woloszyn

A thesis submitted to the Graduate College in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science Geography Western Michigan University April 2019

Thesis Committee:

Gregory Veeck, Ph.D., Chair Kathleen Baker, Ph. D Lisa DeChano-Cook, Ph. D. Laiyin Zhu, Ph. D.



Copyright by Nathalie Woloszyn 2019



#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My first wave of gratitude is due to my family, particularly my mother – who surrounded us with the pursuit of education and whose exhausted naps on her textbooks after dinner instilled a determined nature in each of us. To Tyler Corbin, my partner, without whom this adventure may have never begun! Thank you for your constant support, encouragement and timely reminders that this is for our family and our future.

I would also like to express my most sincere gratitude to my committee chair, Dr. Gregory Veeck. From the day I received a response to my initial letter of inquiry about the program until the day I submitted my completed thesis, Dr. Veeck presented a consistent enthusiasm and inspiring dedication to learning. Thank you for the countless impromptu discussions, for your wise words of counsel, and for tirelessly correcting my pronouns. I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Kathleen Baker, Dr. Lisa DeChano-Cook and Dr. Laiyin Zhu, for their helpful advice and encouragement throughout this research. Finally, thank you to the Department of Geography of Western Michigan University, for their support during my studies.

I would like to acknowledge the Alberta Department of Agriculture and Forestry for initiating this research with the gracious sharing of data. Finally, I would also like to thank the staff of the Waldo Library, for their reliable assistance during my research.

Nathalie Woloszyn



ii

# HABITAT SUITABILIY OF THE MOUNTAIN PINE BEETLE IN ALBERTA, CANADA UNDER FUTURE CLIMATE SCENARIOS

Nathalie Woloszyn, M.S.

Western Michigan University, 2019

Mountain pine beetle (*Dendroctonus ponderosae* Hopkins) is the most destructive insect currently devastating North American forests (Safranyik & Carroll, 2006). Native to western North America, the mountain pine beetle has recently expanded beyond its historic range, into the novel territory of Alberta, Canada. Since its arrival in the mid-2000s, the mountain pine beetle has diffused eastward at an average rate of 80km/year (Cooke & Carroll, 2017). Poised at the doorstep of the boreal forest, current concern anticipates the potential diffusion of the mountain pine beetle to eastern North America.

The Maxent (maximum entropy) model, a presence-only spatial distribution model, is used to assess changes to future habitat suitability for the mountain pine beetle under future climate scenarios. Both a moderate (RCP 4.5) and extreme (RCP 8.5) emissions scenario are considered for the years 2050 and 2070. Through the application of the Maxent model, this research finds that a changing climate will dramatically decrease mountain pine beetle habitat suitability in Alberta, Canada, regardless of the emissions scenario under consideration. By examining the historical spatial distribution of mountain pine beetle infestation, this research identifies key environmental variables that might be used to predict the future diffusion patterns associated with the mountain pine beetle.



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ii
LIST OF TABLESvi
LIST OF FIGURES
CHAPTER
1. INTRODUCTION
2. BACKGROUND
Biology and Behavior6
Range – Past and Present
Factors Affecting Range Expansion
Hosts
Impact
3. LITERATURE REVIEW
Rate of Spread
Methodologies used to Model Diffusion
Common Challenges in Modeling 28
Modeling Diffusion of Invasive Species



#### Table of Contents – Continued

# CHAPTER

Species Distribution Models
Comparing Interpolation Methods
Diffusion Modeling of the Mountain Pine Beetle
Remote Sensing
Equation-based Models 35
Cellular Automata
ForestSimMPB
STAMP – Spatial-temporal analysis of moving polygons
Comparing Three SDMs 39
Maxent
Boosted Regression Trees (BRT) 43
General Linear Models (GLM)
DATA AND METHODS
Study Area
Research Design



4.

# Table of Contents - Continued

# CHAPTER

Data for the Analysis
Presence Data
Environmental Data 54
Model Inputs and Parameters 56
5. RESULTS
Descriptive Statistics
Model Performance
Habitat Suitability Distribution Maps
Variable Contributions and Relative Importance
6. DISCUSSION
7. CONCLUSION
APPENDICES
A. MOUNTAIN PINE BEETLE PRESENCE DATA
B. MAXENT JACKKNIFE TEST RESULTS
REFERENCES



#### LIST OF TABLES

2.1 Phases of mountain pine beetle attack and descriptions
3.1 Comparison of point and polygonal data when estimating gypsy moth spread 31
3.2 Descriptions of diffusion models with examples 32
3.3 Predictor variables used in the three niche models by Sidder et al. (2016)
4.1 WorldClim's 19 bioclimatic variables
4.2 Summary of five Maxent models
5.1 Descriptive statistics of the current climate variables used in the analysis
5.2 Descriptive statistics of the four variables retained in the final model for each future climate scenario
5.3 Predicted area ( $km^2$ ) of suitable habitat for mountain pine beetle
5.4 Top four predictor variables and their average percent contribution (from 10 replicates) fromnthe Maxent model. AUC values for each model are reported in parentheses. Variables are ranked to show the order of
importance per model



#### LIST OF FIGURES

1.1 Epidemic levels of mountain pine beetle near Bonaparte Lake, British Columbia, Canada 2
1.2 Bark beetle impacted forest in the Gila National Forest, New Mexico
1.3 Significant wildfire near the Gila National Forest, New Mexcio 4
2.1 Close up of an adult mountain pine beetle
2.2 Mountain pine beetle life cycle
2.3 Frequency of emergence of mature mountain pine beetle in relation to temperature 8
2.4 Historical distribution of mountain pine beetle ( <i>Dendroctonus ponderosae</i> ) and the distribution of lodgepole pine ( <i>Pinus contorta</i> ) and jack pine ( <i>Pinus banksiana</i> ) 12
2.5 Alberta observed and predicted climate change 16
2.6 Estimated volumes of pine species in Canada showing host connectivity
2.7 Mountain pine beetle red attack phase near Wolf Creek Pass, Colorado
2.8 Remnants of beetle attacked trees, this photo shows a mixture of red and grey attack trees located near Big Meadows Reservoir, Colorado
<ul><li>2.9 Mountain pine beetle has led to such extensive damage in the Big Snowy Mountains, Montana (a) that campsites and hiking trails remained closed throughout the 2018 season due to risk of falling trees (b)</li></ul>
4.1 Alberta, Canada
4.2 Landscape in mountainous southwest Alberta, Canada with grey-attack trees
4.3 Extract by Mask operation ModelBuilder used in ArcGIS 10.6.1
4.4 Process used to convert raster files to ASCII files in ArcGIS 10.6.1
5.1 Topographic map of Alberta, Canada



# List of Figures - Continued

<ul><li>5.2 Annual precipitation (Bio12) (a) and precipitation of the warmest quarter (June, July, August) (Bio18) (b) in Alberta, Canada during current climate condition</li></ul>	;
<ul> <li>5.3 Annual mean temperature (Bio1) (a); minimum temperature of the coldest month (January) (Bio6) (b); and mean temperature of the warmest quarter (June, July, August) (Bio10) (c) in Alberta, Canada under current climate conditions.</li> </ul>	ł
5.4 Forestry Division of the Alberta Agriculture and Forestry Department's annual mountain pine beetle survey map for 2017 (a) showing their representation of mountain pine beetle infestation compared to the Maxent output (b) representation of infestation extent under current climate conditions (Model A)	.)
<ul><li>5.5 Predicted habitat suitability of the mountain pine beetle future climate projections. Two emissions scenarios, RCP 4.5 (B and D) and 8.5 (C and E), were modeled for each 2050 (B and C) and 2070 (D and E), respectively</li></ul>	,
5.6 Jackknife test evaluating relative importance of environmental variables for mountain pine beetle in Alberta, Canada	-



### LIST OF ACRONYMS

ABM – Agent-based Model	GLM – General Linear Model
ASCII – American Standard Code for Information Interchange	GPS – Global Positioning System
AUC – Area Under the Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) Curve	LULC – Land Use and Land Cover
BRT – Boosted Regression Tree	Maxent – Maximum Entropy Model
CA – Cellular Automata	MPB – Mountain Pine Beetle
CMD – Climate Moisture Deficit	PAS – Precipitation as Snow
CSV – Comma Separated Value	RCP- Representative Concentration Pathway
DBH – Diameter at Breast Height	ROC – Receiver Operating Characteristic
DEM – Digital Elevation Model	
FFP – Frost Free Period	SAHM – Software for Assisting Habitat Modeling
	SDM – Species Distribution Model
FHSD – Forest Health Spatial Data	SI – Swarm Intelligence
FIDS – Forest Insect and Disease Survey	
GIS – Geographic Information Systems	STAMP – Spatial Temporal Analysis of Moving Polygons
GCM – General Circulation Model	



ix

#### CHAPTER 1

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The purpose of this chapter is to provide a brief introduction to my thesis research assessing factors that covary with the continuous expansion of mountain pine beetle (Dendroctonus ponderosae Hopkins) into the eastern forests of North America. Native to western North America, and having coevolved with western coniferous forests, mountain pine beetles play an important ecological role which, at endemic, or normal, levels positively influences many natural processes. At epidemic levels, however, these small beetles can cause monumental damage, destroying widespread swaths of forest, causing significant economic, ecological and social impact (Figure 1.1).

Epidemic levels of mountain pine beetle infestations have grown significantly over the past several decades in many areas of western North America. This increase is due to a combination of both anthropogenic and environmental factors. Anthropogenic factors, particularly historic land use practices, such as livestock grazing, logging as well as forest and wildfire management strategies, such as full suppression tactics (Morris et al., 2017), coupled with environmental factors of warming climatic trends and drier growing seasons (Bentz et al., 2010) have contributed to the increase in frequency of mountain pine beetle epidemics.

Full suppression is a wildland fire management strategy which seeks to extinguish any wildland fire, preferably within the first forty-eight hours of its ignition. This strategy was instated following increasingly devastating wildland fires between 1950 and 1988. Ignored, however, was the reality that fire plays an integral role to many of the forest ecologies in question.

Ultimately, these tactics led to increasingly dense forests with over-mature trees and high **ک** للاستشارات

accumulations of brush at the forest floor level. Ironically, with more fuel, the tactic led to fires of such intensity that they were impossible to engage, let alone control. Another outcome was the creation of a stressed forest structure which engineered the perfect habitat for the mountain pine beetle, so that under the right climatic conditions, explosive population increases occurred year after year.



Figure 1.1: Epidemic levels of mountain pine beetle near Bonaparte Lake, British Columbia, Canada. Source: K. Buxton, BC Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations.

The impacts of these epidemic outbreaks have been far-reaching and deeply damaging to the forests which provide a range of goods and services. These goods and services incorporate ecological, economic and social values, often referred to most broadly as ecosystem services (MA, 2005). Impacts are seen in each western state (Figure 1.2) of the US as well as in Canada, where in



British Columbia alone, 710 Mm<sup>3</sup> of lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta* Douglas) have been killed by mountain pine beetle over the last decade. This devastation represents a loss of more than 50% of the total merchantable pine (British Columbia Ministry of Forests, 2012). Such mortality rates also impact the ecosystem services provided by these forests, including air purification, management of water run-off and soil erosion, production of wood and other forest products, climate regulation through carbon storage and other biophysical processes which affect the planetary energy balance (Morris et al., 2017). Further complicating this issue is the fact that wildfire management strategies may be modified due to real or perceived increased wildfire risk (Jenkins et al., 2014) (Figure 1.3). Societal impacts are also felt at local to regional scales, affecting property values, recreational experiences, tourism, and landscape aesthetics (Flint et al., 2009), which remain to be completely quantified economically (Maguire et al., 2015).



Figure 1.2 : Bark beetle impacted forest in the Gila National Forest , New Mexico Source: Credit Tyler Corbin, 2018





Figure 1.3: Significant wildfire near the Gila National Forest, New Mexico Source: Credit Tyler Corbin, 2018

Though the range of mountain pine beetle was historically (pre-2000) bounded by the Rocky Mountains, several events coalesced to give the mountain pine beetle's traditional range opportunity to expand. These specific events were, first, peak outbreaks of mountain pine beetle during the 2000s in British Columbia, Canada and, second, changes to atmospheric conditions which were capable of carrying mountain pine beetles up and over the Rocky Mountains on convective updrafts, successfully displacing the mountain pine beetle into the novel environment of Alberta, Canada. This displacement of the mountain pine beetle led to a series of outbreaks with millions of hectares of forest left dry and dying.

The beetle, now established east of the Rocky Mountains, faces no other obvious geographic barriers to the Atlantic Ocean. Their diffusion in this novel environment has been steadily expanding eastward at an average rate of 80km/year (Cooke & Carroll, 2017). Though



their preferred host, lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*), becomes less dense and more scattered moving east across Alberta, jack pine (*Pinus banksiana*), a naïve species, despite having not coevolved with the mountain pine beetle, has recently shown genetic evidence as a suitable host for mountain pine beetle colonization (Cullingham et al., 2011). Jack pine is the predominant species of the continental boreal forest, stretching west to east, across all of northern North America. Cudmore et al. (2010) show that mountain pine beetle brood success performed much higher in regions with naïve lodgepole pine than in lodgepole pine extant within the beetle's historical native range. Additionally, a study conducted by Rosenberger et al. (2017), assessed mountain pine beetle reproductive success in species of tree common in eastern North America (jack, Pinus banksiana; red, Pinus resinosa; eastern white, Pinus strobus; and Scots, Pinus sylvestris). Mountain pine beetle reproductive success was documented in each species, suggesting that these novel hosts will pose no barrier to further range expansion (Rosenberger et al., 2017). Has an ecological bridge been established for the eastward spread of mountain pine beetle? If so, what are some of the environmental conditions that make this diffusion possible? Looking forward, how does habitat suitability for the mountain pine beetle change under future climate scenarios? These are the issues addressed in this thesis and are articulated in greater detail in the following chapters.



# CHAPTER 2 BACKGROUND

The mountain pine beetle (*Dendroctonus ponderosae* Hopkins) is an eruptive herbivorous bark beetle native to western North America. One of 600 species in the United States, bark beetles, aptly named, spend most of their lives beneath the bark of trees. To subsist, bark beetles mine the water and nutrients within the phloem layer of several pine species. While the majority of bark beetle species live in dead, weakened or dying hosts the mountain pine beetle is one of several which, unfortunately, targets, attacks and survives within living trees (USFS, 2014).

#### **Biology and Behavior**

Adult mountain pine beetles are dark brown to black, rather stout and cylindrically shaped, at about 5mm in length – about the size of a grain of rice (Taylor & Carroll, 2004), as seen in Figure 2.1. Beetles develop through four life stages, called instars: egg, larva, pupa, and adult (Bentz et al., 2009). Development rates are geographically variable, being highly dependent on ambient temperature. Temperatures must exceed 16°C to allow flight, or emergence, to occur (Reid, 1962; Schmid 1972; Billings & Gara, 1975). Safranyik and Jahren (1970) found that rates of daily emergence were proportional to cumulative degree-days beginning at about 14.4 °C (Figures 2.2 and 2.3).





Figure 2.1: Closeup of an adult mountain pine beetle Source: (NPS, 2018)



Figure 2.2: Mountain pine beetle life cycle Source: Johnson, 1982

Most commonly, the mountain pine beetle is a univoltine species (hatching one generation per year). However, cases of bivoltinism have been documented with findings of simultaneous conditions of warmer winters and warmer summer temperatures at higher elevations (Mitton & Ferrenberg, 2012). Current knowledge of mountain pine beetle phenology comes largely from studies conducted within their historic range in British Columbia and in the United States (Bleiker & Hezewijk, 2016).





Figure 2.3: Frequency of emergence of mature mountain pine beetle in relation to temperature Source: Safranyik & Carroll, 2006

With the exception of adult emergence from brood trees in search of new host trees, all life stages are spent in the phloem layer immediately beneath the tree bark. Adult emergence, or flight, typically occurs in late July through August. Flight has been found to start later and be more temporally contracted at higher latitudes (Bleiker & Hezewijk, 2016). Both in the historic and new ranges, flight periods for the mountain pine beetle have been found to be synchronous. This synchronous behavior, also called mass attack, is defined by hundreds of beetles descending upon a tree within a several, often less than two, days - a key strategy which results in successfully overwhelming the tree's defenses. Female beetles initiate attacks, employing a combination of random landings and visual orientation (Hynum & Berryman, 1980) while assessing host suitability based on chemical compounds present in the bark (Raffa & Berryman,



1982). Although the phase beginning with emergence and ending with the selection of, and colonization of, new host trees is one of the most important phases of mountain pine beetle ecology, it is likely the least understood, as well (Safranyik & Carroll, 2006).

According to Safranyik and Carroll (2006), tree characteristics which are selected by female beetles are trees with neither too thin a bark or too small a diameter (DBH – diameter at breast height) old trees - requiring a minimum bark thickness as well as the presence of bark scales and ridges. This preference for larger trees is due to the positive relationship between DBH and phloem thickness (Amman, 1969; Shrimpton & Thomson, 1985), which the larval broods feed upon. Once emerged, adults typically locate suitable host trees within two days of emergence, but are capable of searching for several days beyond that if no appropriate hosts are found prior to this time (Safranyik & Carroll, 2006).

If the tree is acceptable, beetles begin to bore through the bark in order to construct galleries, within which they lay their eggs. As a female beetle penetrates the bark, it releases aggregating pheromones which instigate a mass attack, attracting hundreds of male and female beetles to the same tree within several (often less than two) days. Males also release an antiaggregating pheromone which prevents overcrowding by regulating the number of attacks on one tree. This leads to attacks on nearby trees, leading to groupings of dead trees across a landscape (Bentz, Kegley & Gibson, 2009), an important factor in interpretations of my research.

Also, upon boring into the bark, beetles release spores of blue stain fungi, carried into the tree by the beetles. These spores germinate rapidly, killing living cells in both the phloem and xylem of the tree (Safranyik et al., 1975). The presence of this fungi greatly aids the success rate of an attack by incapacitating the ability of the tree's sap to run freely. For more information about the symbiotic relationships between blue stain fungi and the mountain pine beetle, please refer to the



excellent article, "Integrating models to investigate critical phenological overlaps in complex ecological interactions: The mountain pine beetle-fungus symbiosis" (Addison et al., 2015).

The process of boring into the phloem, the inner bark, essentially starves the tree of water and nutrients as the phloem acts as a matrix of food supply lines, carrying sap from the leaves to the rest of the tree and moisture and nutrients from the roots and trunk to the leaves. These bore holes serve as the first visible symptom that a tree has been attacked. These external signs are usually found on the lower bole of the tree trunk and are a mixture of (i) pitch tubes surrounding entry holes; (ii) boring dust scattered and piled at the base of the trunk; (iii) patches of missing bark picked off by woodpeckers in pursuit of bark beetle brood; and (iv) a pattern of tiny round emergence holes, about 2.5mm in diameter, through which newly developed adults emerge (Safranyik & Carroll, 2006). It is important to note that less healthy trees may not produce pitch tubes and that the remaining symptoms could be due to a variety of other causes. Therefore, these signs cannot stand as reliable indicators of mountain pine beetle attack by themselves (Safranyik & Carroll, 2006).

Crown symptoms follow, when needles of successfully invaded trees begin to change color within several months to a year following the initial attack due to a loss of moisture. The visible symptoms of crown fading, first from green to greenish-yellow and later, yellow, to bright red to brown by the following year, depend on factors such as the timing of the attack, attack density, tree vigor and weather conditions (Safranyik & Carroll, 2006). Needles turn grey within three years of being attacked. Crown symptoms alone also cannot reliably serve as a precise timeline of mountain pine beetle attack. At the tree level, only sub-bark symptoms are definitive indicators (Safranyik & Carroll, 2006). For a description of sub-bark symptoms, please



see the informative article, "Mountain Pine Beetle: A synthesis of its biology, management and impacts on Lodgepole Pine" (Safranyik & Carroll, 2006).

#### **Range – Past and Present**

Pre-2000, the historic biogeographical range of the mountain pine beetle extended from northern Mexico (31°N), west to the Pacific Coast, east to the Black Hills of South Dakota, USA and into northern British Columbia (BC), Canada (56°N) – with small detached populations in Alberta and south-east Saskatchewan. This south to north boundary has been correlated historically with the –40°C isotherm (Safranyik, 1978). In terms of elevation, mountain pine beetle habitat ranges from near sea level in British Columbia to 11,000 feet (3,353 m) in southern California. Figure 2.4 shows that prior to 2000, the northern part of the mountain pine beetle's range was restricted to the west of the Rocky Mountains (Safranyik et al., 2010).

Unfortunately, however, the range of the mountain pine beetle has recently expanded significantly. There are three predominant modes of mountain pine beetle dispersal:

- (i) emergence of beetle attack occurs in the nearest suitable host trees;
- (ii) beetles emerge to attack suitable hosts after a periods of flight exercise (Safranyik at al., 1992); and
- (iii) beetles become caught in atmospheric convective upward drafts, where they are transported long distances by wind (Furniss & Furniss, 1972).





Figure 2.4: Historical distribution of mountain pine beetle (*Dendroctonus ponderosae*) and the distribution of lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*) and jack pine (*P. banksiana*); regions where lodgepole pine and jack pine hybridize are also indicated (adapted from Mu and Powell, 2001). Source: Safranyik et al., 2010.



Since the 2000s, the mountain pine beetle historic range has expanded when beetles from a massive epidemic which erupted in central British Columbia then blew over the Rocky Mountains on upper atmospheric winds and spread to northeastern British Columbia and northcentral Alberta (Jackson et al., 2008; Safranyik et al., 2010). This transference was confirmed by genetic analysis (Bartell, 2008). This diffusion event allowed the mountain pine beetle to clear the Rocky Mountains, previously an effective major geographic barrier (Robertson et al., 2009; de la Giroday et al., 2012). Now, east of the Rocky Mountains, with no other obvious topographic barrier, theoretically, no obstacles inhibit continued range expansion to the Atlantic coast (Safranyik et al., 2010).

Long-range dispersal of mountain pine beetle for hundreds of kilometers is uncommon but not unprecedented. Previous documentation of mountain pine beetle dispersal range from the Rocky Mountains across the southern grasslands region as far as the Cypress Hills of southeastern Saskatchewan, Canada (Hiratsuka et al., 1982). The range expansion that is the focus of this thesis research, however, is novel in that the ecosystem to which mountain pine beetle has now expanded is contiguous boreal forest, stretching eastward and northward across Canada and into northeastern United States.

#### **Factors Affecting Range Expansion**

Numerous studies identify the many factors that can contribute to or impede the diffusion of the mountain pine beetle. These factors include temperature, elevation, precipitation, topography, latitude, the availability/continuity of host tree species, competition and predators. Climate conditions that are most favorable for conditions promoting mountain pine beetle diffusion and infestation include:



- (i) seasonal temperatures which allow synchronous adult emergence and attack (Bentz et al., 1991; Safranyik et al., 2010),
- (ii) univoltine (one year life cycle) development, allowing the most cold-hardy brood stages to overwinter (Logan and Bentz 1999),
- (iii) a mild winter, promoting survival (Bentz and Mullins, 1999), and
- (iv) reduced precipitation during the growing season, negatively impacting host resistance (Safranyik et al., 1975).

According to Bleiker (2017), cold winter temperatures have been identified as the most important factor limiting the diffusion and abundance of the mountain pine beetle (Safranyik, 1978; Safranyik et al., 2010).

The world's climate warmed by  $0.6 \pm 0.2$  °C during the last century, with the mean global temperature projected to increase by 1.4 - 5.8 °C by 2100 (IPCC, 2007) as a result of human induced increases in atmospheric greenhouse gas emissions (Bentz et al., 2010). According to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) the rise in temperatures is projected to exceed global mean increases, particularly at high latitudes and elevations. These increasing temperatures also have the potential to promote drought stress on host forests, reducing their defensive capacity to fend off mountain pine beetle colonization (Faccoli, 2009; Kolb et al., 2016). Still, despite the excellent work already completed, increased understanding of bark beetle-climate interactions, specifically the role of increasing fire frequency, wind and drought disturbances, is needed (Morris et al., 2017).

In Alberta specifically, two different climate scenarios are considered. First, a scenario with increased international effort to promote reductions in greenhouse gas emissions and the



second, where humanity continues to emit increasing amounts of greenhouse gases. The Prairie Climate Centre (2017) reports the following:

- Regardless of the scenario, all of Canada is projected to get warmer in the future (Figure 2.5);
- Canada's Artic will warm much faster than Canada's south with some months projected to experience a 12 °C increase;
- 3. December and January are expected to warm much faster than the other months of the year;
- 4. Southern Canada is projected to get much more precipitation in the spring, fall and winter months but much less in summer months.

These projections are directly related to the diffusion and impacts of mountain pine beetle infestations in new regions, but there is great uncertainty of outcomes given the uncertainty involved in predicting future climatic conditions in Canada.

Mountain pine beetle populations are highly sensitive to variation in mean annual temperature (Logan & Powell, 2001). In outbreak and non-outbreak years alike, mountain pine beetle populations that have been documented to establish and persist in new areas are slowly but steadily becoming climatically adapted due to a warmer environment (Logan & Powell, 2001; Carroll et al., 2004).





Figure 2.5: Alberta observed (left) and predicted climate change (center and right) Source: BMCAA (2019)

As climate changes, so do the geographical ranges of many species. Numerous studies show that climate change-induced range migration – that of forests (Aitken et al., 2008), forest plants (Fitzpatrick et al., 2008) and bird migrations (Jenni & Kery, 2003), particularly, indicate a shift to higher elevations and higher latitudes (Parmesan & Yohe, 2003; Parmesan, 2006; Root et al., 2003;). These examples demonstrate the association between migrating geographical ranges, topography, and a warming climate. Direct climatic factors are generally believed to impose the cool boundaries of a species, while the interaction between species (host/predator, etc.) determines the warm limits of a species' distribution (MacArther, 1972; Parmesan, 2005). Therefore, as cool boundaries for the mountain pine beetle continue to extend northward, so too does the potential for the species' range expansion over time, especially in the absence of natural predators. The long-term rate of spread, or diffusion, of mountain pine beetle is thus intrinsically intertwined with the rate of climatic warming, in turn dependent on climate sensitivity to



greenhouse gas levels, which in itself carries uncertainty, as well as levels of anthropogenic greenhouse gas prediction, which is equally unpredictable (Cooke & Carroll, 2017).

#### Hosts

The preferred host of the mountain pine beetle is lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*) though most species of pine that grow within its range are readily attacked. These include: Ponderosa (*P. ponderosa* C. Lawson), western white (*P. monticola* Douglas), whitebark (*P. albicaulis* Engelm.), and limber pines (*P. flexilis* James) (NRCAN, 2017). Six eastern species of North American pine have also been attacked: eastern white pine (*P. strobus* L.), pitch pine (*P. rigida* Mill.), red pine (*P. strobus* L.), and jack pine (*P. banksiana* Lamb.) (Safranyik et al., 2010). Recently confirmed by genetic evidence, jack pine (*P. banksiana* Lamb.), the predominant species of the boreal forest, also is now a viable host for both attack and reproduction (Cullingham et al., 2011).

As expected, the geographic ranges of the traditional hosts of the mountain pine beetle mimics that of the mountain pine beetle's historic range (Figure 2.6). Since the summer of 2005, the rate of expansion has increased at an average rate of 80km/year eastward across Alberta (Cooke & Carroll, 2017). Some possibility of a slowing of this rate of spread exists as the mountain pine beetle population moves farther from traditional host populations in the dense pine stands of the Rocky Mountain foothills to the scattered, naive pine of the boreal plains. It is reasonable to expect, for example, that a 10-fold decrease in available trees per hectare would lead to a 10-fold decrease in the number of insects (Cooke & Carroll, 2017). Now, however, that jack pine, the predominant species of the boreal forest, appears to be an acceptable host, future predictions regarding mountain pine beetle diffusion remains uncertain. Other factors, such as





Figure 2.6: Estimated volumes of pine species in Canada showing host connectivity (data from the Canadian Forest Service forest inventory). Source: Safranyik et al., 2010

how the mountain pine beetle responds to relatively novel environments, the unpredictability of future weather and climatic conditions, and human efforts to limit colonization of new ecological areas also contribute to this uncertainty (Cooke & Carroll, 2017).

#### Impact

The mountain pine beetle is considered by researchers to be the most aggressive, persistent and destructive insect found within mature pine (Pinaceae) forests in western North America.

According to Dale et al. (2001), it is estimated that insect disturbances affect an area that is almost



45 times as great as that affected by fire, resulting in an economic impact nearly five times as great. The mountain pine beetle has already had the greatest economic importance of all insects in the forests of western North America (Samman & Logan, 2000). The reason for this is that the mountain pine beetle is one of a few bark beetles that is a true predator that must kill its host in order to successfully reproduce (Heavilin et al., 2007). Although most of North America's bark beetles are native and play an integral ecological role in forest dynamics (Fleming et al., 2002; Sanchez-Martinez & Wagner, 2002), researchers believe recent outbreaks are increasing in frequency, severity and extent (Westfall, 2006; Kurz et al., 2008; Raffa et al., 2008).

According to research by Safranyik and Carrol (2006), mountain pine beetle populations can be considered as having four distinct states: (1) endemic; (2) incipient epidemic; (3) epidemic; and (4) post-epidemic or collapse. Endemic populations are scattered and restricted to damaged or weakened pine trees. Incipient-epidemic populations have increased sufficiently to overcome the defenses of average diameter host tree species. Once the incipient epidemic phase has been reached, adding favorable climatic conditions to beetle survival, rapid spread across a landscape can occur, reaching the epidemic phase. Once the majority of large-diameter host species have been killed, the collapse phase initiates (Carroll et al., 2006).

Epidemic phases of the mountain pine beetle have occurred in different regions at different times. According to Pedersen (2003), the two key factors that have contributed to the expansion of the mountain pine beetle epidemic are:

- 1. the threefold increase since 1910 of the number of hectares of mature, susceptible lodgepole pine forests that are 80 years of age and older (Taylor & Carroll, 2004); and
- warmer climate conditions expanding the beetle's range into previously unsuitable areas, particularly reaching higher latitudes and elevations (Carroll et al., 2004).



Historical outbreaks previously documented in central British Columbia, Canada occurred in the 1930s, 1970s, early 1980s and mid-1990s with a peak in 2005. In the mid-1990s, an outbreak affected more than 14 million ha of pine forests, an area more than ten times the size than any previously recorded outbreak (Safranyik et al., 2010). In 2003, a 100% increase in rate of spread and attack intensity since 2002 was recorded through aerial overview surveys (BC Ministry of Forests, 2004). According to Walton (2012), by 2011, over 700 million m<sup>3</sup> of trees distributed over 18.1 million hectares of pine forests had been killed, representing approximately 50% of the total merchantable pine volume in the province. This is expected to grow to more than 57% by 2021 (British Columbia Ministry of Finance, 2013). According to aerial surveys, by 2014, 51,804 hectares were documented as being affected by mountain pine beetle, down from 63,102 hectares in 2013. Economic impact is significant as the forest and logging sector is a longstanding significant industry in British Columbia, with a direct contribution of CAN \$1.65 billion to gross GDP in 2012 (British Columbia Ministry of Finance, 2013). One study predicts that between 2009 – 2054, a cumulative loss of CAN \$57.37 billion (US \$44.63 trillion) (1.34%) to GDP will result from the impacts of mountain pine beetle damage (Corbett et al., 2016).

The extent of mountain pine beetle infestation in Alberta is variable. Mountain pine beetle outbreaks first appeared in the province of Alberta, Canada during the summer of 2005. Since then, the mountain pine beetle has spread eastward across Alberta at an average rate of 80km/year (Cooke & Carroll, 2017). In 2005, in attempts to reduce its spread, Alberta began an annual program to detect and eliminate mountain pine beetle populations along the presumed leading front. As of 2016, the mountain pine beetle continues to be the primary bark beetle causing tree mortality (Alberta Agriculture and Forestry, 2016).



Aerial beetle-kill forest surveys are completed annually by provincial governments in Canada. These surveys monitor locations of "red-attack" trees. Table 2.1 describes of attack phases of mountain pine beetle while Figure 2.7 illustrates the red and grey attack phases.

Table 2.1: Phases of mountain pine beetle attack and descriptions

Attack Phase	Description
Green Attack	Currently infested; pine needles begin to shift from green to yellow.
	Difficult to assess from aerial surveys
Red Attack	Infested the year prior; pine needles turning red; highly visible – most
	aerial surveys monitor red attack. Timber is salvageable for a short
	time period.
Grey Attack	Tree is now dead – needles have turned grey. Timber is largely
	unsalvageable.

Source: Created by the author

Scotia and Brown (2017) recorded a three-fold increase, from 11,853 red trees in 2016 to 46,000 red trees in 2017 in the Edson Forest Area. According to the 2017 Bugs & Diseases Report for Alberta, Canada, while some areas are seeing increased rates of infestation, others are seeing significant declines (Scotia & Brown, 2017). For example, in 2015, 22,011 red trees were detected in the survey area. By 2017, however, only 2,601 red trees had withstood attack - presumably due to aggressive and sustained control efforts.





Figure 2.7: Mountain pine beetle red attack phase near Wolf Creek Pass, Colorado. Source: Photo taken by author, 2018

In the United States, according to US Forest Service (USDA Forest Service, 2011), infestations of mountain pine beetle outbreaks have also been quite extensive, particularly in the states of Colorado and Wyoming. It is thought that these outbreaks were initially triggered by extended drought in the region during the late 1990s and early 2000s. More than 1.5 million acres of forest in northern Colorado are affected. Again, as in Canada, the infestation is a major threat to regional economies and public safety – due to falling trees and an increase in fuel loading for wildland fires. Another statistic provided in the Colorado State University (Colorado State University, 2017) documents a mortality rate of 1 in 14 trees in Colorado due to mountain pine beetle. The effects present themselves in numerous sectors of society. Excessive timber losses are perhaps the most obvious result but this level of landscape-level change also impacts the forest's ability to purify air and water, protect against soil erosion, and also drastically change



a region's wildland fire regimes by increasing fuel loading. Wildlife composition, recreational values, aesthetics and safety are also heavily effected (Safranyik et al., 1974; McGregor, 1985; Safranyik & Carroll, 2006). According to the Aerial Survey Highlights for Colorado for 2017 (USDA Forest Service, 2015; USDA Forest Service, 2017), epidemic levels of the mountain pine beetle have ended, for the time being, within Colorado. Since 1996, nearly 3.4 million trees have been affected by mountain pine beetle. In 2017, however, less than 900 acres newly attacked trees were reported. This decline is believed to be due to a depletion of available host trees. Figure 2.8 shows recent remnants of beetle attack trees near Big Meadows Reservoir, Colorado. In contrast, Figure 2.9 shows the recent high level of impact in a National Forest in Montana, where hiking trails and camping were forbidden during the 2018 season due to concerns of public safety.



Figure 2.8: Remnants of beetle attacked trees, this photo shows a mixture of red and grey attack trees located near Big Meadows Reservoir, Colorado. Trees with white trunks are aspen (*Populus tremuloides*) – not to be mistaken for grey attack conifers. Source: Photo taken by author, 2018





Figure 2.9: Mountain pine beetle has led to such extensive damage in the Big Snowy Mountains, Montana (a) that campsites and hiking trails remained closed throughout the 2018 season due to risk of falling trees (b). Source: Taken by the author, 2018


# CHAPTER 3 LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter will introduce previous research on the mountain pine beetle and the methods employed to analyze this remarkable diffusion. Biological invasions follow four common phases: arrival, establishment, spread and impact (Venette, 2015). In the mid-2000s, mountain pine beetle diffused beyond its native range into novel territories in Alberta, Canada. Since then, the mountain pine beetle has successfully established and spread at an average rate of 80km/year (Cooke & Carroll, 2017). Findings from this research is of particular interest with respect to the diffusion of mountain pine beetle as it stands poised at the doorway of the boreal forest, forming an ecological corridor from western North America to eastern North America.

The mountain pine beetle epidemic, having reached an unprecedented scale and intensity, has successfully expanded and established itself far beyond its native range. Now, stretching before the mountain pine beetle are the novel habitats of naïve forest species stretching from western North America to the Atlantic. Naïve host species, those which have not co-evolved with the disturbance agent in question, such as jack pine, have been confirmed as suitable for mountain pine beetle colonization (Cullingham et al., 2011). Again, the intent of this research is to assess the habitat suitability and potential diffusion of mountain pine beetle populations into these new ecosystems in order to both better understand the changing climatic variables which may be most relevant within this new terrain while also providing new information for forest managers and policy makers about the new potential risk to these valuable forests.

It is essential to obtain a thorough understanding of prior research in terms of both the methodologies used to explore the diffusion patterns of invasive species and the actual findings related



to mountain pine beetle. A researcher must be adequately informed as to the succession of methods used in the past as well as current best practices which allows for the identification of gaps in the research and/or methodologies. This review has three related goals: 1) summarize work meaningful to the importance of establishing the rate of spread, or diffusion, of an invasive species; 2) review a variety of the methodologies used to map and model such diffusion and; 3) review all methodologies previously used to model the spread of the mountain pine beetle. The studies related to the modeling methodologies will be briefly summarized with a focus upon the data collection procedures, the most significant variables identified by this previous work, and the data analyses methods, results, conclusions, and noted limitations of prior studies.

### **Rate of Spread**

Before generating projections of species diffusion, the rate of spread of the species must be estimated. There are numerous factors that influence this rate, including: presence and density of suitable habitats most vulnerable to invasion, suitable climatic conditions, interspecies competition, predation (Boone, Six, & Raffa, 2008) and host susceptibility and vigor (Cooke & Carroll, 2017). Once established, species begin to expand their geographic range in a process known as stratified diffusion where local growth and dispersal is paired with long distance movement (Shigesada, Kawasaki, & Takeda, 1995). If successful, these long-distance dispersed colonies eventually coalesce with the point of origin, greatly increasing the rate of spread and the colonized territory (Hengeveld, 1989; Shigesada & Kawasaki, 1997). Cycles of dispersal and establishment continue until all of the susceptible habitat is occupied (Liebhold & Tobin, 2008). Stratified dispersal has been observed and documented for numerous non-native species, including the Argentine ant (*Linepithema humile*) (Suarez, Holway, & Case, 2001), Africanized honeybee (*Apis mellifera scutellate*) (Winston, 1992), horse-chestnut leaf miner (*Cameraria* 



*ohridella)* (Gilbert, Gegoire, Freise, & Heitland, 2004), emerald ash borer (*Agrilus planipennis*) (Muirhead, et al., 2006) and the gypsy moth (*Lymantria dispar*) (Liebhold, Haverson, & Elmes, 1992).

Insect disturbances are considered to have significantly damaging effects on the ecology and economy on Canadian forests. Successful establishment of an invasive species beyond its native range poses a significant threat to native ecosystem structure, productivity, diversity and function (Tobin et al., 2016). It is crucial to monitor, simulate, and predict insect disturbance processes in order to gain insights into past, present, and future forest ecosystem scenarios (Liang et al., 2017). Estimating the rate of spread of the species and modeling future projections of potential range expansion are integral components for the development of land and resource management plans and policies (Tobin et al., 2015).

#### Methodologies used to Model Diffusion

Diffusion models "build a simplified mathematical representation of the main features of the process as a time series of indicators describing the phenomenon of interest" (Jaakkola, 1996, p. 65). There are numerous analytical methods used to model diffusion, each carrying an associated list of assumptions and therefore presenting differing strengths and weaknesses. This complex process incorporates manipulation of a variety of variables and, depending on what phenomenon is being modeled, some methods are more appropriate than others for particular species and biomes. The study of diffusion has a rich history, being used for a wide breadth of topics ranging from biological to the adoption of technologies, such as the spread of: political ideologies and mobile phones (Jaakkola, 1996), marketing (Mahajan, Muller, & Bass, 1990), disease (Rahmandad & Sterman, 2008), and invasive plant and animal species (Ferrari, Preisser,



& Fitzpatrick, 2014; Hastings et al., 2005; Reeves & Usher, 1989; Safranyik, Silversides, McMullen LH, & Linton, 1989; Shigesada et al., 1995; West et al., 2016; Raghavan et al., 2019).

#### **Common Challenges in Modelling**

Three common challenges to quantitative modelling were identified by Venette (2015). First, developing a model which offers a more meaningful prediction of spread and impact than would be derived from random chance or intuitive models, (i.e. plant pests spreading to where suitable hosts are found). When models are made for areas in which the subject of interest has not yet arrived, extrapolations from what is known about the species in its native range are made and applied to the new locations. Further, simplifying assumptions about the invading population, such as individuals being the genetic equivalent of individuals in their native range will also mimic those of future generations. This, of course, is not the case specifically with the mountain pine beetle, whose larvae has shown to present varying cold tolerance based on geography (Régnière & Bentz, 2007). For example, a cold tolerance difference of 10°C in lateinstar larvae between north-central Alberta and southern British Columbia, Canada was found by recent research (Bleiker, Smith, & Humble, 2017). Second, validating the model – physical, conceptual, statistical or mathematical – presents a challenge as models are always an abstraction and simplification of reality. As our knowledge of biological invasions remains incomplete, models are intended to capture enough of reality in order to be useful (Venette, 2015). Lastly, Venette identifies portraying the results in a useful manner for the intended audience, often decision makers, as the third challenge. Scope, resolution, information loading and presentation offer just a glimpse of considerations the researcher should undertake throughout the modeling process.



#### **Modeling Diffusion of Invasive Species**

Diffusion describes the means by which a species redistributes itself, passively or actively, in an area of concern after it has established (Venette, 2015). Numerous quantitative models have been developed in order to measure and forecast diffusion (Shigesada & Kawasaki, 1997; Hastings et al., 2005). Later in this chapter, Table 3.2 offers a summary and comparison of many diffusion models.

#### Species Distribution Models

Species distribution models (SDMs), also known as bioclimatic envelopes, correlative niche models, or ecological niche models, are commonly used in the fields of macroecology, biogeography and biodiversity research to model the geographic distributions of species based on correlations between known occurrence locations and their associated environmental conditions (Gomes et al., 2018). SDMs are probabilistic models which statistically correlate species' known occurrences within its present environment in order to estimate distribution and predict changes in their distribution under changing climates (Guisan & Zimmermann, 2000). SDMs are popular models due to the increase of availability of species location data as well as the ease of implementation of some of the modeling methods (Gomes et al., 2018).

SDMs have been criticized for lacking mechanisms for independent validation (Araujo & Peterson, 2012). Further, two assumptions of SDMs are violated when modelling invasive species. First, SDMs assume the species' ecological niche is stable in both time and space (the invasive species in its adventive area has similar environmental conditions of its native range) (Gallien et al., 2012). This assumption is not always met as the naturalized climatic niche of an invasive species can differ from their native climatic niche (Medley, 2010; Early & Sax, 2014; Parravicini et al., 2015). Second, SDMs assume that the species is at semi-equilibrium within its



environment, meaning the species has already spread to all suitable locations and is absent from all unsuitable locations (Guisan & Thuiller, 2005). Equilibrium of an invasive species is not met until the latest state of invasion (Barbet-Massin et al., 2018).

Despite these limitations and while more studies are needed, SDMs of invasive species have been shown to adequately predict spread. Barbet-Massin et al. (2018) used SDMs to model the diffusion of the Asian hornet (*Vespa velutina nigrithorax*) which is invading Europe and is climatically driven. Their results show predictive accuracy was slightly, but significantly, better when their model was calibrated with invasive data only, excluding native data (Barbet-Massin et al., 2018).

## Comparing Interpolation Methods

A study conducted by Tobin et al. (2015) demonstrated the application of three methods of interpolation, (square-root area regression, distance regression and boundary displacement) to estimate the diffusion rate of the gypsy moth, *Lymantria dispar*. The moth is a non-native invasive defoliator insect which currently occupies nearly three-quarters of the forested land considered to be susceptible in the USA (Tobin et al., 2015). In this study, both point and polygon data were used. Findings suggest that estimates for the rate of spread between the three methods were similar while using polygon data. Point data, however, generally provided greater spatial resolution in the verification of species presence (Tobin et al., 2015) (Table 3.1). Tobin et al. (2015) further describe the point data for this species, collected with pheromone baited trapping systems, as having the additional advantage of delineating measurements of abundance, or density. This is particularly valuable knowledge for management efforts as lower density populations may be more reactive to control tactics. This study shows that even with low-quality



spatial records of infestation, relatively simple mathematical approaches can be used to accurately estimate rates of diffusion (Tobin et al., 2015).

		Spread rate estimate ( $\pm$ SE), km/year		
Data Source	Moth threshold	Square-root area regression	Distance regression	Boundary displacement
Polygon data	NA	1.1 (1.9)	9.6 (2.0)	9.9 (5.0)
Point data	1	13.5 (2.3)	15.7 (0.3)	7.3 (3.0)
	10	21.2 (1.2)	19.3 (0.5)	9.7 (2.8)
	100	23.8 (2.2)	22.8 (0.6)	14.7 (10.5)
	Overall	19.5 (3.1)	19.3 (2.0)	10.6 (3.7)

Table 3.1: Comparison of point and polygonal data when estimating gypsy moth spread (*Lymantria dispar*) using three analytical methods

Adapted from Tobin et al., 2015

There are countless diffusion models in existence. Models continue to evolve to better fit their subject matter but many have come far from early, generic versions. Table 3.2 summarizes a variety of models varying from approaches focusing on population dynamics, using statistical forecasting to incorporating spatial heterogeneity, to incorporating competition and evolution of the species in question – the mountain pine beetle, for example. Concerning the incorporation of evolution, Garcia-Ramos & Rodriguez (2002) modeled the influence of local adaptation on invasion in a spatially heterogeneous environment, and found that the rate of adaptation to local conditions can be the key limiting factor to spread, especially where large differences between habitat patches exist.



Modeling Method	<b>Description of Model</b>	Examples
Approaches using ana	lytical methods	
Square-root	Distance-to-time analysis using	
regression	successive measurements of invaded	
	area	
Distance regression	Regresses the distance from an	
	infested location from a reference	
	point on the year it first became	
	infested (Gilbert & Liebhold, 2010)	
Boundary displacement distance	ent Estimates rate of spread by considering s	(Tobin et al., 2015)
	between pairs of consecutive	
	invasion boundaries (Tobin et al.,	
	2015).	
Approaches using pop	ulation dynamics: (most common)	
ntegro-difference	Estimates spread velocity	House finch of North America (Veit & Lewis, 1996), the Holocene spread of trees (Clark, 1998; Clark et al., 2001); Oak trees across Britai after the last glaciation (Skellam, 1951); Earth worms in an agricultural field (Marinissen & van den Bosch 1992)

# Table 3.2: Descriptions of diffusion models with examples



Table 3.2 - Continu	ied	
Modeling Method	Description of Model	Examples
Survival analysis	Used to predict how long a location will remain free of an invading species	Phytophthora lateralis, a root pathogen of a riparian tree (Jules et al., 2002)
ncorporating Spatial I	Heterogeneity:	
Reaction-Diffusion	Models spread of a single species is G	leditsia triacanthos

	examined in an environment with periodic variation in diffusivity and/or growth rate	<i>Lithraea ternifolia</i> in Argentine forests (Marco & Paez, 2000; Shigesada et al., 1986; Shigesada & Kawasaki, 1997)
Gravity	Movements are not random but are	Zebra mussel spread (Bossenbroek,
	biased by the attractiveness of	Kraft, & Nekola, 2001); Spatial spread
	destinations; invasions mimic	of a genetically modified microbe
	satellite introductions instead of a	with presence of a competitor
	moving wave	(Cruywagen, Kareiva, Lewis, &
		Murray, 1996)
Individual-based	Incorporate detailed information	Landscape level predictions of <i>Pinus</i>
	about individual fecundity, dispersal	radiata in S. Africa (Higgens et al.,
	and landscape structure	1996)
Data-based	Incorporates corridors	Spread of rabies on heterogeneous
stochastic		landscapes (Smith et al., 2002)
Percolation Theory	How spatial heterogeneity affects	
	not only the rate of spread, but its	
	final outcome; Relationship between	
	disturbance and the spread of	
	invaders (With, 2002)	



#### **Diffusion Modeling of Mountain Pine Beetle (MPB)**

Forest insect disturbances, the mountain pine beetle included, remain a particular challenge to prediction efforts due to the highly dynamic nature of insect behavior (Liang et al., 2017). Listed and described below are several of the many approaches that have been used to depict, predict, assess and manage mountain pine beetle outbreaks in the following order: remote sensing, general linear models, equation-based models, agent-based models (ABM), cellular automata (CA), ForestSimMPB, STAMP (spatial-temporal analysis of moving polygons) followed by a comparison of three popular contemporary SDM models, Maxent, boosted regression trees (BRT), and generalized linear models (GLM). Please refer to Table 3.2 for a summary of these modeling methods for mountain pine beetle.

## Remote Sensing

Wulder et al. (2006) found that analyses of Landsat imagery in conjunction with diffusion models used to predict red attack damage in a mixed-stand forest had an accuracy of 86% (Wulder et al., 2006). Remote sensing, in combination with ancillary spatial data, has been used to create a mountain pine beetle red attack likelihood surface which accurately identifies damaged forest stands at the landscape scale (Perez & Dragicevic, 2010). Landsat imagery, though coarse at 30-meter<sup>2</sup> resolution, was also used to map outbreak locations and tree mortality (Meigs et al., 2015). Liang et al. (2014) analyzed a decade-long Landsat time-series stacked with the aid of automatic attribution of change detected by the Landsat-based Detection of Trends in Disturbance and Recovery algorithm (LandTrendr) in order to characterize mountain pine beetle outbreak patterns. These change-detection analysis maps have an overall accuracy ranging from 87% to 94% (Liang et al., 2014). These maps are coupled with predictor variables



(anthropogenic, biologic and physical) in a general linear model (GLM) framework and the findings are discussed in the GLM section. Other researchers have utilized a range of additional remotely sensed products, such as GeoEye-1 (Dennison, Brunelle, & Carter, 2010), which provide highresolution (0.46 meter) satellite imagery. Although GeoEye-1 provides detailed spatial and temporal information, unfortunately, the high cost and difficult accessibility make it less than practical for repeat management applications (Morris et al., 2017). However, remotely sensed images extracted from the use of drones presents a promising technique for high-value, smaller areas, although it is not yet understood how these images will be integrated with satellite and aerial imagery (Morris et al., 2017).

## Equation-based Models

Equation-based models represent the most popular approach for insect diffusion models (Perez & Dragicevic, 2010). These mathematical equations, however, fail to take into account some of the spatial dynamics which influence the phenomenon (Perez & Dragicevic, 2010). Spatial distribution of the mountain pine beetle has been studied through the lens of many spatial statistic methods (Campbell, Alfaro, & Hawkes, 2007). Perez & Dragicevic (2010) utilized agent-based modeling (ABM) paired with the analytical capabilities of geographic information systems (GIS) to model mountain pine beetle infestation at two spatial scales – at the local, treelevel scale and the landscape scale – to study how micro-level mountain pine beetle outbreaks create infestation patterns which affect macro scale forest health. These authors developed this GIS-AB approach, notably freely available (http://repast.sourceforge.net/download.html), to simulate mountain pine beetle infestation over forest landscapes primarily consisting of lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*) with Douglas-fir (*Pseudotsuga mensiesii*) at smaller proportions and White Spruce (*Picea glauca*) distributed throughout the landscape. Aerial overview survey data and five different raster GIS datasets showing forest cover attributes of tree species, age, height, health



state and diameter at breast height (DBH). Their results from the simulation for a landscape scenario over a 10-year period, using both moderate and extreme winter tree-mortality rates, showed mountain pine beetle infestation locations remain in close proximity to previous attack sites during the first four years, but are more dispersed over longer periods of time.

# Cellular Automata

Liang et al. (2017) employed an insect-CA (cellular automata) modeling framework, integrating remote sensing, GIS and cellular automata to predict the mountain pine beetle mortality patterns. Results ranged from 88% to 94% accuracy, showing this method has a high degree of effectiveness for modeling forest insect dynamics. Additionally, results showed that a small neighborhood size is the most effective in simulating the actual movement of mountain pine beetle, indicating short-distance as the predominant dispersal mode of the mountain pine beetle.

# **ForestSimMPB**

ForestSimMPB is a novel model approach which integrates Swarm Intelligence (SI) theory and agent-based model within a GIS framework in order to determine the spatial pattern associated with mountain pine beetle attacks (Pérez & Dragićević, 2011). Inclusion of swarm intelligence theory presents a strength to this model in that it incorporates the unique biological behavior of the mountain pine beetle, with specific regard to emergence, aggregation and attack behavior. The use of an agent-based model is also a strength as it allows incorporation of a heterogeneous forest landscape. Further, these authors operated the model over three sites: 1) pure lodgepole; 2) geographic barrier scenario; and 3) mixed forest scenario. Results suggest that the forest composition, artificial barriers, and the trees' health status influence the spatial distribution of insects and their general behavior during an outbreak (Pérez & Dragićević, 2011). These authors also note that including wind and elevation data would contribute an improved



understanding with respect to the effect of these variables on mountain pine beetle behavior. The main drawback of this approach at this time is that it remains to be validated due to the difficulty of gathering sufficient forest data over a wide temporal range for the study areas. Cost may also be a significant issue given the extent of post-2000 mountain pine beetle outbreaks and the limited resources of the agencies charged with mitigation efforts.

#### STAMP – Spatial-temporal analysis of moving polygons

STAMP, a recently developed pattern-based approach, was used by Robertson et al., (2009) to illustrate fine-scale spatial dynamics of processes associated with mountain pine beetle range expansion. These scholars studied the movement patterns of mountain pine beetle infestations in areas where range expansion was occurring across three regions in the Canadian Rocky Mountains. Based on aerial survey data from 1999-2005, Robertson et al. (2009) found that dispersal patterns of the mountain pine beetle vary with geography and host/beetle population dynamics. While habitat connectivity was found to facilitate successful colonization, long range dispersal patterns to new distant locations was found to be common during periods of low overall range expansion whereas a locally connected dispersal pattern was found during periods of rapid invasion (Robertson, et al., 2009). Through the use of STAMP, trends in the number and size of the polygons by year were determined, revealing both fine- and coarse-scale patterns of changes in mountain pine beetle biogeographical range over time.

Cooke & Carroll (2017) used a synthetic framework which modeled future spread rates across Canada as a function of coupled nonlinear recruitment dynamics that arise from the distinct population phases of the mountain pine beetle, and correlated thermal response functions that are characteristic of the influence of climate and climate change on ecosystem processes. Population growth dynamics, they state, are relevant to dispersal in that population levels



determine the number of diffusers able to travel long distances. Their study differs from previous studies, which have examined spread risk factors individually, by "providing a synthetic perspective on the role of synergistic nonlinear process interactions in expected rates of population growth and spread" (Cooke & Carroll, 2017, p. 13). This study uses normalized insect survey data from British Columbia and Alberta, Canada, pine volume density maps, and three indices of mountain pine beetle climatic suitability (an index of seasonality, winter survival, and summer and winter climatic suitability). Climatic suitability maps were computed using BioSIM, a standard tool used to generate spatial maps of mountain pine beetle climatic suitability (Bentz et al., 2010; Cooke & Carroll, 2017). Two climate models (drying climate and warming climate) and one forest health scenario (an increase in the ratio of stressed to vigorous trees) are combined with the goal of predicting the possibility of eruption from endemic to epidemic phases. "This synthetic model shows a classic "tipping point" model that is capable of identifying sudden, unanticipated behavior due to nonlinear determinacy, multivariate causality, stochasticity, and uncertainty in model parametrization and specification" (Cooke & Carroll, 2017, p. 19). Results show that warm, dry conditions lead to an increased probability of severe mountain pine beetle outbreaks. Five sources of uncertainty are identified:

- The incompleteness of precise knowledge of all drivers, interactions and functional parameters which affect eruptive behavior;
- (2) The potential for variations in drought may lead to region-specific impacts;
- (3) Adaptive seasonality (life cycle events occurring synchronically with ephemeral resources (Logan & Powell, 2003) will degrade and may cause a sudden decline in climatic suitability;



- (4) Large areas of jack pine through eastern Alberta and Saskatchewan are already infected with dwarf mistletoe and its impact on the trees defense capabilities;
- (5) Finally, the authors acknowledge that mountain pine beetle brood success is higher in naïve lodgepole pine hosts, but it is not known how jack pine, another naïve host species, will affect mountain pine beetle brood success.

Importantly, the study also reflects upon the unpredictability of a long-term spread rate, as it is reliant on the rate of climate warming, which is related to uncertain greenhouse gas emissions, of which the share of anthropogenic activities producing greenhouse gas is equally uncertain. For additional research suggestions, see the article.

# Comparing Three SDMs

Sidder et al. (2016), compared the suitability of three species distribution models (SDMs) – Maxent, boosted regression trees, and generalized linear models – to evaluate how the climate niche, potential distribution, and climatic drivers of the mountain pine beetle have changed across three time periods. The climate niche is defined as the range of climatic conditions conducive to mountain pine beetle outbreak (e.g. upper and lower temperature thresholds found in occupied habitat). Potential distribution is defined as the spatial extent where suitable topography and climate exists for mountain pine beetle outbreak. Lastly, climate drivers refer to those climate variables which are identified as most influential with respect to mountain pine beetle outbreaks. Forty-five initial variables were narrowed down to fourteen through testing for significant correlations based on Pearson, Spearman, and Kendall coefficients. Highly correlated variables were filtered using expert knowledge of mountain pine beetle ecology and were selected to represent seasonal climatic influences (Table 3.3). Summaries of the comparisons of the three models used in this study follow.



Maxent. Maxent (maximum entropy or closest to uniform), freely available and hosted online at https://biodiversityinformatics.amnh.org/open\_source/maxent/, is one the most popular recent SDMs (Renner & Warton, 2013). It is a self-contained Java application for species distribution modeling based on occurrence (locations of presence of the species) while also incorporating environmental variables (temperature and rainfall) for a surrounding area (Phillips et al., 2006; Phillips & Dudik, 2008). This presence-only model is advantageous as it allows for the use of the plentiful data sources from archived natural history collections, greatly reducing the cost, in both time and money, of sampling a species throughout its geographic extent (Gomes et al., 2018). While presence data may be abundant, absence data are more difficult to obtain and often less reliable, due to the required high field survey efforts. To account for this, "Maxent uses a background sample to contrast the distribution of presences along environmental gradients against the distribution of background points, randomly drawn from the study area" (Gomes et al., 2018, p. 4; Sidder et al., 2016). Therefore, modeling techniques that require only presence data are extremely useful (Graham et al., 2004). Evangelista et al., (2011) also employed the Maxent model in order to estimate forest vulnerability and potential distribution across three bark beetle species (mountain pine beetle (Dendroctonus ponderosae), western pine beetle (Dendroctonus brevicomis), and pine engraver (*Ips* pini)) across a study area of eight states in the interior west, equaling 2.2 million km<sup>2</sup> of



Variables	Description	Rationale	
CMD	Hargreaves climatic moisture deficit (CMD). Sum of the monthly difference between reference atmospheric evaporatie demand and precipitation. A higher CMD reflects a greater moisture deficit.	Drought affects the host tree's ability to defend itself against bark beetle attack (Safranyik, 1978). Belowaverage precipitation across the growing season correlates with an increased MPB (Carroll et al., 2006).	
PAS	Precipitation as snow (PAS, mm) between August of previous year and July of current year.		
PPT_sp	Spring precipitation between March-May.		
PPT_sm	Summer precipitation between June-August.		
PPT_at	Autumn precipitation between SeptemberNovember.	Reduction in autumn moisture immediately following attack benefits larval overwinter survival (Amman, 1978).	
bFFP	Julian date on which the frost-free period (FFP) begins.	Spring temperature affects the larval development (Aukema et al., 2008).	
eFFP	Julian date on which the frost-free period ends.	Early onset of frost period in the late summer and autumn may affect the egg and larval development (Safranyik, 1978).	

Table 3.3: Predictor variables used in the three niche models by Sidder et al. (2016).



Table 3.3 – Continued

Variables	Description	Rationale
Tmin_wt DD_0_wt	Winter mean minimum temperature (°C). Winter-degree days below 0°C.	Severe winter temperatures can reduce overwinter survival and cause widespread beetle mortality (Safranyik, 1978; Sambaraju et al., 2012).
DD_0_sp	Spring degree-days below 0°C.	Spring temperature affects larval development (Aukema et al., 2008).
DD18_sm	Summer degree-days above 18°C.	Summer heat accumulation affects many aspects of the MPB life cycle, including emergence, flight, and egg hatch (Sambaraju et al., 2012)
elevation	Digital elevation model (DEM) at 1-km resolution	Topographic variables roughly define a suitable topography for host species (Safranyik, 1978; Sambaraju
slope	Maximum change in elevation between each cell and its eight neighbors.	et al., 2012).
aspect	Downslope direction of a grid cell.	

Adapted from Sidder et al., 2016

the interior Rocky Mountains. Using both moderate and extreme climate projection scenarios for both 2020 and 2050, results from Evangelista et al., (2011) showed that suitable habitats for both the mountain pine beetle and pine engraver will stabilize or decrease. Habitat for the western pine beetle was shown to increase, however.



*Boosted Regression Trees (BRT)*. Boosted regression trees are "an ensemble method for fitting statistical models that use regression trees and boosting to combine many simple models and improve performance" (Sidder et al., 2016, p. 7). The authors fitted the BRT model with SAHM (Software for Assisted Habitat Modeling) and experimented with parameters for the learning rate and tree complexity with the goal of having at minimum 1000 trees and biologically senisble response curves (Sidder et al., 2016).

*General Linear Models (GLM).* General linear models are based on maximum likelihood regression principles and use standard linear regression techniques (Long & Lawrence, 2016). GLM is a regression approach which fits parametric terms using some combination of linear, quadratic, and/or cubic terms (Elith et al., 2006). Liang et al. (2014) analyzed a decade-long Landsat time-series generated maps to characterize mountain pine beetle outbreak patterns. The research coupled these maps with a general linear model (GLM) and a set of anthropogenic, biologic, and physical predictor variables. After a stepwise removal of insignificant variables, findings indicated neighborhood mortality, winter mean temperature anomalies, and residential housing densities are positively correlated with mountain pine beetle morality while summer precipitation was found to be negatively correlated (Liang et al., 2014). Additionally, Sidder et al. (2016) found that generalized linear models reduced omission error and had greater predictive success when compared to Maxent or boosted regression trees, though each of the three models generated reasonable predictions.

Significant results of Sidder et al. (2016) include an indication of expansion of climatically suitable habitat for mountain pine beetle over the last fifty years – particularly with an upward shift in the mean elevation across the US Rocky Mountain region. Additionally, their models



indicate drought is a more prominent driver for current mountain pine beetle outbreaks than temperature, suggesting a climatic signature change from historic to current outbreaks. Results also show a reduction in climatically suitable habitat although it appears that high elevation forests have an increase in potential susceptibility. In addition, a comparison of the three methods in this same article resulted in reasonable accuracy for all three, though these authors state that the simpler, generalized model predicted a higher percentage of current outbreak locations with a reduced omission error while both Maxent and BRT were the topperforming historical models. The next chapter, based on this review of literature, will outline the data and methods used in my research.



# CHAPTER 4 DATA AND METHODS

The recent diffusion of the mountain pine beetle (MPB) well beyond its native range coupled with changing global climate regimes has made future predictions regarding this troublesome species quite difficult. Areas that were once thought inhospitable and safe from invasions now have the potential to become ideal habitat as winters become increasingly warm, precipitation becomes more variable and host forests experience increased stress as they adapt to these fast-changing climatic conditions. While previous research has analyzed mountain pine beetle distributions across the interior west of the United States using Maxent, Alberta remains uncharted territory for these type of analyses over the time period selected for the project and it is hoped information derived from the application of Maxent models will contribute to a general understanding of the current threat and challenge. This chapter will describe the research methods and data used for this thesis intended to assess habitat suitability across Alberta, Canada for the mountain pine beetle.

#### **Study Area**

Again, the location for this thesis research is Alberta province of Canada. Alberta, a land locked, western province of Canada, is situated within the square of British Columbia to the west, the Northwest Territories to the north, Saskatchewan to the east and the US state of Montana to the south (Figure 4.1). Alberta has an area of nearly 661,848 square kilometers (255,500 square miles). Elevation ranges from 3,747m (12,293 ft) in the southwest of the province to 152m (499 ft) in the northeast. Mountains and foothills range along the southwestern **boundary (Figure 4.2). The Great** Plains, composed of largely treeless areas in the eastern and



southern regions, sweep eastward across the province, representing part of Canada's great "grain belt". In contrast, the northern half (57% of the province) is covered in boreal forest that is predominantly composed of aspen (*Populus tremuloides*) and white birch (*Betula papyrifer*) in the south shifting to white spruce (*Picea glauca*), larch (*Larix occidentalis*) and black spruce (*Picea mariana*) to the north. Lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*) and alpine fir (*Abies lasiocarpa*) are found in the west while the previously discussed jack pine (*Pinus banksiana*) and balsam fir (*Abies balsamea*) are found in the east.



Figure 4.1: Alberta, Canada. Source: Created by author





Figure 4.2: Landscape in mountainous southwest Alberta, Canada with grey-attack trees Source: Taken by author, 2018



Alberta experiences a humid continental climate with four distinct seasons. Due to Alberta's great extent, ranging over 1,200km (750 mi) from north to south and from east to west, climate varies greatly. Average winter extremes range from  $-54^{\circ}$ C in northern Alberta to  $-46^{\circ}$ C in southern Alberta. Average winter temperatures, however, vary from  $0^{\circ}$ C in the southwest to -24°C in the north. Winter temperatures in the southwest are often moderated by incoming chinook winds from the Rocky Mountains. Average summer temperatures range from 21°C in the Rocky Mountains and in areas north, to 28°C in the prairies of the southeast. Alberta experiences a significant number of sunny days – totals ranging from 1900 to 2500 hours per year - and summer experiences 18 hours of daylight. Due to the presence of the Rocky Mountains, precipitation is often deposited on the windward side of the mountains, creating a rain shadow which extends over the majority of Alberta. Annual precipitation ranges from 300 mm (12 in) in the southeast to 450 mm (18 in) in the north. The leeward foothills of the Rocky Mountains record a mean annual precipitation of 600 mm (24 in). To the point for this thesis, thirty-eight million hectares of Alberta are forested, resulting in Alberta's third largest industry, and contributing \$5.3 billion to the economy (Alberta Chambers of Commerce, 2016). Approximately 60% of coniferous forest in Alberta is composed of trees aged 80 years or older (Alberta Agriculture and Forestry, 2018). Between the 2004/2005 fiscal year and 2012, the government of Alberta devoted \$336 million for mountain pine beetle control and mitigation (Government of Alberta, 2013). If current projections hold true, this sum will get much greater before it declines due to intermittent infestation-driven deforestation.

# **Research Design**

Maxent (Maximum Entropy Modeling) was selected for this study to create a species distribution model for the mountain pine beetle across Alberta. As mentioned in Chapter 3, species distribution



models (SDMs) are widely used in biogeography, macroecology and biodiversity research. Maxent, one of the most commonly used contemporary SDMs, is a machine-learning algorithm which calculates a species' probability distribution based on outcomes predicting maximum entropy, or in other words, that which is closest to a uniform solution.

Again, as noted in Chapter 3, Maxent is a presence-only model, allowing for the incorporation of a wide range of types of date sources, from natural history collections to field collected data, to be utilized by scientists while avoiding the high costs of sampling a species throughout its range (Gomes et al., 2018). The model is nonlinear, nonparametric and is not sensitive to multicollinearity (Evangelista et al., 2011). Such modeling techniques which require only presence data are of extreme value due to data limitations and available resources in terms of both cost and time for surveys and data analyses (Graham et al., 2004). Maxent has become increasingly popular since its introduction in 2004. Using presence, or occurrence, data, Maxent is designed to allow researchers to model a species' geographic distribution based on correlations between known occurrence records and the associated environmental conditions at those localities (Phillips et al., 2006). When applied to presence-only species data, the pixels of the study area constitute the space over which the Maxent probability distribution is defined (Phillips et al., 2006).

While presence data may be abundant, spatially registered absence data are much more difficult to obtain and as noted earlier, are often unreliable due to insufficient survey effort or resources (Gomes et al., 2018). In response to the lack of absence data, Maxent uses a background sample to contrast the distribution of occurrences along environmental gradients against the distribution of background points, selected at random from the study area (Gomes et al., 2018). Thus, to create a model, Maxent generates background points randomly for comparison against



observed presence data. Maxent also requires data that reflect actual environmental conditions as inputs. These variables are most often sourced from the WorldClim BioClim list of 19 climatic variables, noted previously, which contain a range of moderate to high resolution climatic data and have been used by many researchers in conjunction with the Maxent model (Baldwin, 2009; Evangelista et al., 2011; Rochlin et al., 2013; DellaSala et al., 2011; Dowling, 2015; Abrhaet al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2018; Raghavan et al., 2019). This study follows the conventions established in this previous research and discussed extensively earlier in the thesis.

Maxent software version 3.4.1 is freely available online

(www.cs.princeton.edu/%7Eschapire/ maxent). A complementing tutorial with accompanying test data is also provided, with thorough instructions for data preprocessing as well as useful introductions to Maxent's features and capabilities. Numerous university faculty as well as scientific researchers have posted additional tutorials to further illustrate the previous uses of Maxent. In addition, an active Google group exists for Maxent, providing a live forum for past, current and potential users of the software to help new adopters troubleshoot many potential problems. As more and more work is completed using this software, the resources represented by the Google group (<u>https://groups.google.com/forum/#!forum/MAXENT</u>) will become ever-more valuable.

The use of the Maxent model produces several outputs, one of which is an html file, which allows the editing of results. In addition to modeling a species' current distribution, Maxent has built-in capabilities to project potential future distributions by incorporating two sets of environmental conditions as two unique sets of variables. To be clear, current environmental conditions build the model while environmental conditions sourced from climate models projecting future changes using the MESS (Multivariate Environmental Similarity Surface) analysis tool, incorporated in the model.



Maxent output produces several charts, including the Area Under the Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) Curve, or the AUC. For each run, the AUC returns a number between zero and one, indicating how well the model performs. A value of 0.5 indicates the results may be near to random whereas confidence increases as the AUC value nears 1.0. The output also produces results which test the contribution of each incorporated environmental variable in two different ways – jackknife tests and analysis of variable contributions. Jackknife tests identify the most significant variables by rank order by testing each variable in isolation and comparing its relative contribution to explanatory prediction power to that of all the incorporated variables. The analysis of variable contributions also provides the percent of total prediction that each variable contributes to the model.

In addition, the Maxent model also produces a raster file which displays habitat suitability on a 0 - 1 range. The habitat suitability threshold is defined by the user. In this study, a sensitivity criterion of 90% is used to discern between suitable and unsuitable habitat for diffusion of the mountain pine beetle. Maxent outputs this graphic in an ASCII file (.asc) which can be converted, using the ArcGIS ASCII to Raster tool in Spatial Analysis. This feature allows for further analysis of mountain pine beetle habitat suitability across the study area through the production of raster-based maps for each time period under investigation.

# Data for the Analysis

Several forms of data are required for Maxent analysis. Presence data for the mountain pine beetle, kindly provided by the Forestry Division of Alberta Agriculture and Forestry, serves as the biological data that constitutes the core of the model. Nineteen current climatic variables, detailed in Table 4.1, are required in order to train the model to accurately reflect conditions within all



areas where the mountain pine beetle is known to reside within the study area. Bioclimatic variables are sourced from the monthly temperature and rainfall values in order to generate more biologically meaningful variables (Hijmans et al, 2005). Finally, future climate scenario data are also required so that future habitat suitability for the mountain pine beetle can be projected into the future.

Variable	Description
BIO1	Annual Mean Temperature
BIO2	Mean Diurnal Range (mean of monthly (max temp – min temp))
BIO3	Isothermality (BIO2/BIO7) (*100)
BIO4	Temperature Seasonality (standard deviation * 100)
BIO5	Max Temperature of Warmest Month
BIO6	Min Temperature of Coldest Month
BIO7	Temperature Annual Range (BIO5 – BIO6)
BIO8	Mean Temperature of Wettest Quarter
BIO9	Mean Temperature of Driest Quarter
BIO10	Mean Temperature of Warmest Quarter
BIO11	Mean Temperature of Coldest Quarter
BIO12	Annual Precipitation
BIO13	Precipitation of Wettest Month
BIO14	Precipitation of Driest Month
BIO15	Precipitation Seasonality (Coefficient of Variation)
BIO16	Precipitation of Wettest Quarter
BIO17	Precipitation of Driest Quarter
BIO18	Precipitation of Warmest Quarter
BIO19	Precipitation of Coldest Quarter

Table 4.1: WorldClim's 19 bioclimatic variables

Source: Adapted from Hijmans et al., 2005



# Presence Data

Point data for mountain pine beetle presence in Alberta, Canada were graciously provided through the Forestry Division of the Alberta Agriculture and Forestry Department. Until 1995, forest pest surveys were conducted annually by the Forest Insect and Disease Survey (FIDS) unit of the Canadian Forest Service. In these early years, surveys were conducted from fixed wing aircraft, based on the services of a trained sketch-mapping surveyor who delineated affected polygons and rated associated damage levels. In 1997, provincial governments took control of the responsibility of conducting all insect surveys within their provinces. Methodologies used across provinces then diverged. Once infestation spread to Alberta in 2005, Alberta developed a "zero tolerance" policy to the mountain pine beetle. From this point forward, the methodology used in Alberta to conduct the insect surveys used helicopters equipped with GPS (global positioning systems) to more accurately locate individual clusters of attacked trees, with identification resolution for these surveys often down to a single tree. These methods are considered to have produced much more accurate results in terms of the identification of infestation locations and infestation levels all with spatial georeferencing as compared to the previous fixed wing survey efforts, whereby location was often only roughly estimated (Cooke & Carroll, 2017). Though there are known limitations to the data, the data has been used numerous times to make reliable large-scale inferences for studies referenced previously in Chapter 3 in this thesis (Aukema et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2015). For further description of how this data is obtained and its known limitations, please see Appendix A.

Regardless of the methods for collection, point data for the presence of the mountain pine beetle has been collected on a nearly annual basis, going back to 1975. For the purpose of this study, point data from year 2017 is used to train and test the model. Upon investigating the data, it was found



that many years contained point locations for red attack trees that were sourced from other causes than mountain pine beetle attack. Using ESRI's ArcMap 10.6.1, only records that were designated as mountain pine beetle attack were retained from the original annual aggregated datasets. Also, this point data was further processed in order to match the geographic extent, coordinate system and pixel size of the climate data – a strict requirement for Maxent. Ultimately, all occurrence data was converted to CSV files to include only three columns, in this order: species, longitude and latitude. The 2017 dataset incorporated 17,628 records of mountain pine beetle occurrence within the study area.

### Environmental Data

Environmental variables of interest include both current climatic variables (Table 4.1) and projections of these climatic variables in the future as well as elevation above sea level (m) and a binary variable reflecting the presence/absence of forest land use/land cover across the study area. All climatic variables were obtained through WorldClim version 1.4 (http://worldclim.org/) which are already downscaled and bias corrected. These bioclimatic variables have been shown to support more effective model development as compared to monthly data alone, as insects are easily affected by fluctuations in temperature (Kumar & Stohlgren, 2009).

Data for current climate conditions were obtained from WorldClim's 19 bioclimatic variables (see Table 4.1) as GeoTIFF files. Climatic variables based on future climate scenarios were obtained from the CCSM4 climate model, based on CMIP5, for the years (2050 and 2070). Moderate Representative Concentration Pathway (RCP) 4.5 as well as the identical variables generated using a less optimistic scenario of RCP 8.5 were downloaded for both time frames,



2050 and 2070. RCP 4.5 predicts that emissions will peak in 2040 and then stabilize. In contrast, RCP 8.5 predicts that emissions will continue to grow past 2100. All climatic variables were selected at a 30-second resolution, equal to roughly 1km<sup>2</sup>, or 0.00833333333 degrees.

Maxent requires that all environmental variables be of the same geographic extent, spatial resolution and projection coordinate system (Evangelista et al., 2011). Therefore, all environmental variables were also processed using ArcMap 10.6.1 to create a consistent and appropriate dataset within a common scale. To accomplish this, the Extract by Mask tool was used, setting the variable BIO1 as the mask and altering the Environment settings so that each operation matched the exact geographic extent, resolution and projection system of BIO1. ModelBuilder was then utilized to expedite the process and ensure that each layer (each variable) was generated in precisely the same manner for exactly the same pixel and scale. Figure 4.3 details the data development steps used to prepare all data for inclusion in the model.



Figure 4.3: Extract by Mask operation ModelBuilder used in ArcGIS 10.6.1 Source: Created by the author

Once all data were standardized, using ArcMap, all resulting layers were converted from



GeoTIFF files to ASCII files using: Toolbox > Conversion Tools > From Raster > Raster to ASCII, ensuring the resulting output file ended in .asc. All resulting datasets are sent to a unique directory for subsequent use in the Maxent model runs (Figure 4.4).



Figure 4.4: Process used to convert raster files to ASCII files in ArcGIS 10.6.1. Source: Created by the author

Finally, elevation data and land cover data were obtained through Geospatial Data Extraction (<u>http://maps.canada.ca/czs/index-en.html</u>). A larger land cover dataset was reclassified to include only three land use/land cover (LULC) categories: (1) conifer forests (code 210); (2) broadleaf forests (code 220); and (3) mixed forest (code 230). The remaining land use/land cover categories were classified as no data and masked out of the study analyses. The resulting raster dataset representing only forested areas was then converted to an ASCII file for use in Maxent and subject to the same data processing procedures as the steps used to process the climatic variables that are described above.

# **Model Inputs and Parameters**

This section will outline the inputs and all parameters that were tuned for use in the



Maxent user interface. Mountain pine beetle presence data for 2017 is linked to the "Samples" file. The bioclimatic variables for the current climate scenario are linked to "Environmental Layers". A unique output folder is designated for each model run and then the prepared future climate projection data is individually linked to "Projection layers directory/file". The output type is Logistic and file type is .ASC.

Parameters are tuned to include a 10 percentile training presence threshold rule. By doing this, suitable habitat is defined to include 90% of the data, the portion used to develop the model. This was designated under Settings > Advanced > Apply threshold rule > 10 percentile training presence as suggested by previous successful research efforts (Evangelista et al., 2011; Dowling, 2015). Each analysis included 10 replications, using a different set of randomly selected (bootstrap) occurrence points for training and validating the model. These results were then averaged across the 10 replicates for a single results model. AUC values and associated estimates of variable contributions in percentage values were recorded for each model. 30% of the occurrence points are typically withheld for model validation, in accordance with Evangelista et al. (2011). The number of iterations for each run was increased from the default value of 500 to 5000 in order to allow smoothing and improve model performance. This is done so that the model is permitted an adequate number of iterations to assure convergence. Without adequate iterations for convergence, the model may over or under-predict. All other parameters remained set at the default settings.

The first Maxent run includes the current climate data. A separate run is conducted for each of the two emissions scenarios, 4.5 and 8.5, for each 2050 and 2070, resulting in a total of five models (Table 4.2). Each model was run in two sets. Initially, all 21 environmental variables are included. Finally, a second set of models is run, using only the top four contributing



variables, as recommended by previous research (Papes, 2018). These four top contributing variables were recorded, including their numeric contribution, given in percent.

Model Run	Description
Α	Current climatic variables only
В	Projection for climate scenario 2050, RCP 4.5
С	Projection for climate scenario 2050, RCP 8.5
D	Projection for climate scenario 2070, RCP 4.5
Ε	Projection for climate scenario 2070, RCP 8.5

Table 4.2: Summary of five Maxent models

Source: Created by the author

Graphic representations of results are also included in the Maxent output. Analysis of the graphic results can be conducted in ArcGIS by importing the .ASC file and converting it to a raster file (Arc Toolbox > Conversion Tools > To Raster > ASCII to Raster). The preset, "Integer" needs to be changed to "Float", allowing the results to range from 0 to 1. In order to display the results as binary - suitable and unsuitable habitat – the raster values need to be reclassified using the Reclassify tool. Under 'Classify', designate the classification method to be 'Manual' with two 'Classes'. The break value used for the first class should be gleaned from the threshold value, which is found in the Maxent 'Results' CSV under "10 percentile training presence logistic threshold". In ArcGIS, a range of the lowest number to this threshold is classified as one (suitable). The resulting raster displays the two classes, zero and one, unsuitable and suitable habitat for the species at hand, in this case, the mountain pine beetle. The area of land infested by the beetle (and not infested) can be calculated by exploring the raster count in the attribute table. Results of all analyses are presented in Chapter 5.



#### CHAPTER 5

# RESULTS

In this chapter, Maxent model results are depicted both numerically and graphically. Overall model performance is evaluated using the Area Under the Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) Curve, or the AUC. As described in Chapter 4, AUC values range from 0 to 1, with a result of 0.5 indicating that results may be random with confidence increasing as the value nears 1.0. Again, binary maps created to show suitable versus unsuitable habitat under current and future climatic conditions are provided as figures, followed by the quantified area and percent reduction in habitat suitability. Environmental variables are assessed both by their percent contribution and a jackknife test of variable importance. The jackknife test of variable importance sifts through the environmental variable in two ways - where first, the model eliminates one variable at a time and reporting the most important variable. Second, the jackknife test runs each variable independently, reporting which variable has the most information not present in any other variable. Again, 21 total environmental variables are used as dependent variables for introduction into the Maxent models. Prior to model results, descriptive statistics are provided to contextualize the resulting models. Table 5.1 provides the descriptive statistics for all variables under the current climate scenario used in the baseline model. As will be clear later in the chapter, the four variables that are retained in the model are shown in Table 5.2.

#### **Descriptive Statistics**

Table 5.1 provides the mean, range and standard deviation of elevation and the 19 bioclimatic variables (forests, the 21<sup>st</sup> environmental binary variable, is categorical, not continuous and is excluded from the statistical analysis). The study area incorporates a wide spectrum of elevation,



www.manaraa.com

with a low ranging from 171 meters in the Slave River to a high of 3,523 meters at Mount Columbia (Figure 5.1). Average annual precipitation (Bio12) ranges from a low of 270mm to a high of 836mm while precipitation of the warmest quarter (June, July, August) (Bio18) has a range from 118mm to 310mm (Figure 5.2). Annual mean temperature (Bio1) ranges from a low of -8.6°C to a high of 6.2°C Mean temperature of the warmest quarter (Bio10) ranges from a low of 0.2°C to a high of 18.7°C while the minimum temperature of the coldest month (Bio6) ranges from a low of -31.8°C to a high of -12.0°C (Figure 5.3). Figures 5.1 - 5.3 offer insight into the spatial distribution of each variable in Alberta, Canada and are helpful in understanding the final habitat suitability maps produced by Maxent.

# **Model Performance**

Maxent model performance is evaluated using the Area Under the Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) Curve, or the AUC. As described in Chapter 4, AUC values range from 0 to 1, with a result of 0.5 indicates the results may be random with confidence increasing as the value nears 1.0. All models performed reasonably well, with AUC values ranging from a minimum of 0.715 to a maximum of 0.794. Individual model AUC values are reported in parentheses in Table 5.4.


Variable	Description	Unit	Mean	Minimum	Maximum	Standard <u>Deviation</u>
Bio1	Annual Mean Temperature	°C	0.29	-8.60	6.20	2.16
Bio2	Mean Diurnal Range (mean of monthly (max temp – min temp))	°C	12.22	8.20	15.30	1.02
Bio3	Isothermality (BIO2/BIO7) (*100)	%	2.65	1.90	3.60	4.01
Bio4	Temperature Seasonality (standard deviation * 100)	%	1157.87	684.40	1468.30	183.96
Bio5	Max Temperature of Warmest Month	°C	22.28	7.30	28.80	2.13
Bio6	Min Temperature of Coldest Month	°C	-23.42	-31.80	-12.00	4.42
Bio7	Temperature Annual Range (BIO5 – BIO6)	°C	45.71	27.90	53.00	47.09
Bio8	Mean Temperature of Wettest Quarter	°C	13.94	7.40	18.60	2.14
Bio9	Mean Temperature of Driest Quarter	°C	-6.98	-21.30	12.20	3.54
Bio10	Mean Temperature of Warmest Quarter	°C	14.17	0.20	18.70	1.91
Bio11	Mean Temperature of Coldest Quarter	°C	-15.36	-23.90	-5.50	4.30
Bio12	Annual Precipitation	mm	453.66	270.00	836.00	7.88
Bio13	Precipitation of Wettest Month	mm	77.14	52.00	116.00	1.33
Bio14	Precipitation of Driest Month	mm	18.29	7.00	47.00	0.52
Bio15	Precipitation Seasonality (Coefficient of Variation)	%	52.07	16.00	72.00	1.08
Bio16	Precipitation of Wettest Quarter	mm	205.84	128.00	309.00	3.74
Bio17	Precipitation of Driest Quarter	mm	61.23	28.00	174.00	1.78
Bio18	Precipitation of Warmest Quarter	mm	205.08	118.00	310.00	3.79
Bio19	Precipitation of Coldest Quarter	mm	69.49	28.00	214.00	2.17
DEM	Digital Elevation Model	m	750.82	171.00	3523.00	409.62

Table 5.1: Descriptive statistics of the current climate variables used in the analysis

Source: Calculated by author



Climate Model	Variable	Description	Unit	Mean	Range	Standard
						Deviation
B: 2050, RCP 4.5	Bio18	Precipitation of the warmest quarter	mm	_199.02	110.00 - 303.00	3.80
Moderate	Bio12	Annual precipitation	mm	464.25	270.00 - 846.00	8.31
Emissions	Bio10	Mean temperature of warmest quarter	°C	16.91	3.80 - 21.9	1.93
C: 2050, RCP 8.5	Bio18	Precipitation of the warmest quarter	mm		_	3.78
Extreme	Bio12	Annual precipitation	mm	462.79	267.00 -856.00	8.17
	Bio10	Mean temperature of warmest quarter	°C	17.70	44.00 - 22.80	2.00
Scenario	Bio6	Minimum temperature of coldest month	°C	20.20 -193.85	<u>-27.809.40</u> 100.00 - 304.00	4.06
Scenario	Bio6	Minimum temperature of coldest month	°C	-20.01	-27.609.10	4.13
D: 2070, RCP 4.5	Bio18	Precipitation of the warmest quarter	mm	200.89	107.00 - 318.00	4.12
Moderate	Bio12	Annual precipitation	mm	476.09	273.00 - 869.00	8.62
Emissions	Bio10	Mean temperature of warmest quarter	°C	17.29	4.10 - 22.40	1.96
Scenario	Bio6	Minimum temperature of coldest month	°C	-20.00	-27.908.300	4.43
E: 2070, RCP 8.5	Bio18	Precipitation of the warmest quarter	mm	191.19	103.00 _ 304.00	3.59
Extreme	Bio12	Annual precipitation	mm	475.18	864.00	8.10
Emissions	Bio10	Mean temperature of warmest quarter	°C	19.21	6.10 - 24.50	2.03
Scenario	Bio6	Minimum temperature of coldest month		-18.27	-25.307.10	3.99

Table 5.2: Descriptive statistics of the four variables retained in the final model for each future climate scenario.

Source: Calculated by the author



www.manaraa.com



Figure 5.1: Topographic map of Alberta, Canada Source: Created by the author



Figure 5.2: Annual precipitation (Bio12) (a) and precipitation of the warmest quarter (June, July, August) (Bio18) (b) in Alberta, Canada during current climate conditions. Source: Created by author







Figure 5.3: Annual mean temperature (Bio1) (a); minimum temperature of the coldest month (January) (Bio6) (b); and mean temperature of the warmest quarter (June, July, August) (Bio10) in Alberta, Canada under current climate conditions. Source: Created by the author



#### Habitat Suitability Distribution Maps

Turning to the visualizations of the Maxent results depicted in Figures 5.4 and 5.5, these maps show some very interesting results. The maps for future scenarios clearly indicate a continuous spatial reduction in habitat for the mountain pine beetle over time. The binary maps shown in Figure 5.5 were created using a sensitivity criterion of 90% to discern between suitable and unsuitable habitat for the future diffusion of the mountain pine beetle, as described in Chapter 4.

Model A, incorporating only current climatic conditions, identifies suitable habitat for the mountain pine beetle located along the eastern slopes of the Rocky Mountains with an additional concentration that has broken out in central Alberta. Figure 5.4 shows a comparison between the Division of Forestry's mapped results of the 2017 annual mountain pine beetle survey (a) and the Maxent model output for the distribution of mountain pine beetle in 2017 under current climate conditions (b) (Model A). This comparison provides validity to the Maxent model's performance as the extent and location of infestation in both maps is nearly identical. The aggregate sum of suitable habitat is to approximately 68,368 km<sup>2</sup> for 2017 (Table 5.3). This habitat is considered to represent the current location and extent of mountain pine beetle infestation and is used as a baseline for future comparison. Model A performed reasonably well, with an average test AUC of 0.793. Counter-intuitively, and perhaps the most important finding of the study, future projection models, again, show a decline in suitable habitat for the mountain pine beetle.

All independent models using future climate projections (models B, C, D and E) predict decreasing habitat suitability for the mountain pine beetle (Figure 5.5). Model B, incorporating the climate scenario for 2050 RCP 4.5, reports a habitat suitability decrease of 68%, to 21,604





Figure 5.4: Forestry Division of the Alberta Agriculture and Forestry Department's annual mountain pine beetle survey map for 2017 (a) showing their representation of mountain pine beetle infestation compared to the Maxent output (b) representation of infestation extent under current climate conditions (Model A). Geographic coordinate systems differ. Source: (a) (Alberta Agriculture and Forestry, 2017), (b) Created by the author





Figure 5.5: Predicted habitat suitability of the mountain pine beetle future climate projections. Two emissions scenarios, RCP 4.5 (B and D) and 8.5 (C and E), were modeled for each 2050 (B and C) and 2070 (D and E), respectively. RCP 4.5 represents a moderate emissions scenario; RCP 8.5 represents an extreme emission scenario. Red areas show suitable habitat and gray areas show unsuitable habitat. Average test AUC was 0.778.



km<sup>2</sup>. Model C, incorporating the climate scenario for 2050 RCP 8.5, reports a habitat suitability decrease of 78%, to 15,156 km<sup>2</sup>. Model D, incorporating the climate scenario for 2070 RCP 4.5, reports a habitat suitability decrease of 75%, to 17.038 km<sup>2</sup>. Finally, Model E, incorporating the climate scenario for 2070 RCP 8.5, reports a habitat suitability decrease of 92%, to 5,729 km<sup>2</sup> (Table 5.3).

These results, and their consistency across scenarios, are both interesting and important. If results of Maxent are valid, several conditions may be developing over time. Of course, there is no way of knowing, based on these results, which of the outcomes is most probable but they do offer baseline insights into future possibilities.

Model	Total Area (km <sup>2</sup> )	Area Decrease (km <sup>2</sup> )	Percent Decrease (%)
A	68,368	_	
В	21,604	46,764	68
С	15,156	53,212	78
D	17,038	51,330	75
E	5,729	62,639	92

Table 5.3: Predicted area (km<sup>2</sup>) of suitable habitat for mountain pine beetle.

Note: Model A uses current climate data, representing the current extent of the mountain pine beetle and serves as a baseline for comparison; Model B uses climate projection data for 2050, RCP 4.5 (moderate emissions); Model C uses climate projection data for 2050, RCP 8.5 (extreme emissions); Model D uses climate projection data for 2070, RCP 4.5 (moderate emissions); and Model E uses climate projection data for 2070, RCP 8.5 (extreme emissions). Source: Created by the author



## Variable Contributions and Relative Importance

The Maxent model analyzes environmental variables both by considering their percent contribution to model performance (Table 5.4) and also by performing a jackknife test of variable importance (Figure 5.6). Of the 21 total environmental variables included, four climatic variables consistently rose to the top as having the highest percent contribution. Precipitation of the warmest quarter (Bio18), typically representing the months from June to August, is the variable with the highest contribution, with an average contribution of 31.6% (Table 5.4). Annual precipitation (Bio12) has the second highest predictive power with an average contribution of 13.5%. Throughout all five models, variable Bio18 consistently outperforms all other variables, accounting for the highest percent contribution for each model.



Table 5.4: Top four predictor variables and their average percent contribution (from 10 replicates) from the Maxent model. AUC values for each model are reported in parentheses. Variables are ranked to show the order of importance per model.

Predictor Variables Contribution (%) Rank Model	<u>l R</u> un A: Current	t variables or
(0.793)		
Precipitation of the warmest quarter (Bio18)	31.6	1
Annual precipitation (Bio12)	13.5	2
Mean temperature of warmest quarter (Bio10)	10.3	3
Minimum temperature of coldest month (Bio6)	9.9	4
	Σ 65.3	
Model Run B: 2050 RCP 4.5 Projection (0.793)		
Precipitation of the warmest quarter (Bio18)	30.6	1
Annual precipitation (Bio12)	15.5	2
Mean temperature of warmest quarter (Bio10)	7.8	4
Minimum temperature of coldest month (Bio6)	12.2	3
	Σ 66.1	
Model Run C: 2050 RCP 8.5 Projection (0.715)		
Precipitation of the warmest quarter (Bio18)	32.5	1
Annual precipitation (Bio12)	10.7	3
Mean temperature of warmest quarter (Bio10)	11.2	2
Minimum temperature of coldest month (Bio6)	9.9	4
	Σ 64.3	
Model Run D: 2070 RCP 4.5 Projection (0.794)		
Precipitation of the warmest quarter (Bio18)	37	1
Annual precipitation (Bio12)	7.1	4
Mean temperature of warmest quarter (Bio10)	9.7	2
Minimum temperature of coldest month (Bio6)	9.5	3
	Σ 63.3	
Model Run E: 2070 RCP 8.5 Projection (0.794)		
Precipitation of the warmest quarter (Bio18)	31.6	1
Annual precipitation (Bio12)	13.8	2
Mean temperature of warmest quarter (Bio10)	7.5	4
Minimum temperature of coldest month (Bio6)	7.9	3
	Σ 60.8	

Source: Created by the author



Finally, Maxent performs a jackknife test of variable importance. Again, the jackknife test of variable importance sifts through the environmental variable in two ways - where first, the model eliminates one variable at a time and reporting the most important variable. Second, the jackknife test runs each variable independently, reporting which variable has the most information not present in any other variable. Model B shows annual precipitation (Bio12) as the environmental variable with the highest gain when used in isolation, indicating that it has the most useful information by itself. Minimum temperature of the coldest month (Bio6) is the environmental variable which decreases the gain the most when it is omitted, indicating Bio6 as having the most information that is not present in any other variable (Figure 5.6). Each future model's jackknife test report similar findings (Appendix B).



Figure 5.6: Jackknife test evaluating relative importance of environmental variables for mountain pine beetle in Alberta, Canada. Note: "Bio10" is mean temperature of the warmest quarter; "Bio12" is annual precipitation; "Bio18" is precipitation of the warmest quarter; "Bio6" is minimum temperature of the coldest month.



# CHAPTER 6

## DISCUSSION

The Maxent model analyses results indicate that a changing climate will lead to significant changes in habitat suitable for the mountain pine beetle. Climatic variables based on future climate scenarios were obtained from the CCSM4 climate model, based on CMIP5, for the years 2050 and 2070. Moderate Representative Concentration Pathway (RCP) 4.5 as well as the identical variables generated using a less optimistic scenario of RCP 8.5 were downloaded for both time frames, 2050 and 2070. RCP 4.5 predicts that carbon emissions will peak in 2040 and then stabilize. In contrast, RCP 8.5 predicts that carbon emission will continue to grow past 2100. Interestingly, these results depict a resounding decrease in overall habitat over time, regardless of the emissions scenario under consideration. These results contrast with current concerns by the Forestry Division of Alberta and much of the current literature anticipating the continued eastward diffusion into the boreal forest.

It is important, however, to remember that like all models, Maxent models are simplifications and abstractions of reality. These model results contain numerous untested and untestable assumptions about changing environmental conditions over space and time (Evangelista et al., 2011). Furthermore, these models rely on projected climate scenarios and although global climate models have significantly improved, they continue to contain numerous uncertainties, whether considering the model structure, the unpredictability of future carbon emissions, and natural variability that may occur in the future (Woldemeskel et al., 2015).



Temperature and precipitation are projected to change significantly within Canada under future climate scenarios. Importantly, precipitation is known to be one the most difficult variables to accurately predict as GCMs do not include the full range of real-world precipitation-forming processes that occur over the extent of the province of Alberta, much less for the North American continent (Legates, 2014). Finally, the data used for this analysis shows only the spatial distribution of the mountain pine beetle in Alberta, Canada. This spatial distribution does not include the full range of climate variability for mountain pine beetle habitat.

Thus, the Maxent results, which recognized precipitation of the warmest quarter (Bio18) as having the highest contribution to model construction, should be interpreted with caution. There are copious additional natural and anthropogenic variables that are known to facilitate or regulate mountain pine beetle habitat, range and intensity (Evangelista et al., 2011). Interspecific interactions, predation, adaptation, forest management practices, localized climatic conditions and extreme weather events all contribute to the evolution or change in habitat suitability for the beetle but simply cannot be confidently incorporated into current versions of Maxent models (Heikkinen et al., 2006; Evangelista et al., 2011). The wind event, for example, which successfully displaced mountain pine beetle populations over the Rocky Mountains in 2005, while not unprecedented, is a rare and unpredictable event that simply cannot be anticipated. This displacement into entirely novel terrain allowed alarming population growth leading to monumental ecological change which is poised to continue. Finally, the WorldClim data used for the current climate models represents averaged measurements gathered between 1970 and 2000. Therefore, these results represent a hypothesis of a potential future scenario of mountain pine beetle habitat suitability, their possible distribution and forest vulnerability.



Despite the varying degrees of uncertainty, these model results and similar studies provide valuable insights to forest managers to the potential effects of climate change on biodiversity (Heikkinen et al., 2006; Evangelista et al., 2011). Mountain pine beetle is a climate driven species. While future carbon emission rates are unpredictable, even under moderate emission scenarios, future changes in climate and budding infestations are expected to continue to have significant impacts on forest composition, carbon sequestration and cycling, fire regimes and hydrology (Evangelista et al., 2011). Some researchers consider the silver lining and speculate upon the long-term, positive effects that mountain pine beetle infestations may inflict by default. One particular hypothesis of interest is that mountain pine beetle outbreaks may indeed act as a natural selection event, eliminating trees that are most susceptible to the beetle and the least adapted to the anticipated warmer, drier conditions (Six, Vergobbi, & Cutter, 2018) while improving forest heterogeneity and revitalizing ecosystem functions (Evangelista et al., 2011). While these factors are not included in the model, changes in the 19 bioclimatic variables that were included in the model seem to predict declines in suitable trees and forested regions. Analyses such as those completed in this thesis may aid in the development of early warning systems for outbreaks in novel areas, providing increased opportunities to plan management and research priorities in efforts to make forests more resilient while reducing negative impacts of potential mountain pine beetle outbreaks. The study also moves the debate forward in terms of potential methods to be applied by other researchers in the future.



# CHAPTER 7 CONCLUSION

The results presented in this research predict a significant decrease in future suitable habitat susceptible to the mountain pine beetle under both moderate and extreme carbon emission scenarios. Minimum cold temperatures of the coldest month, Bio6, contains information that is present in no other variable, in agreement with research conducted by Bleiker et al., (2017), identifying cold temperatures being the most important variable in limiting both distribution and abundance of the mountain pine beetle. These Maxent results successfully identified Bio6 as being significant while also successfully identifying precipitation as a meaningful variable. Summer and winter drought have also been identified by previous research as driving factors initiating the spread of mountain pine beetle (Carroll et al., 2006; Seidl et al., 2016; Sidder et al., 2016) and other bark beetle species (Hart et al., 2017), a significant success of the Maxent model.

Further study is recommended to continue to refine these results in order to better understand possible impacts at higher spatial and temporal resolutions. These future projects would include studies of the relationships between the mountain pine beetle and climate at smaller and larger spatial resolutions. At smaller scales, it may be possible to include variable forest composition, continuity and density which may produce results more informative for natural resource managers. At larger scales, this study could be expanded to include Saskatchewan, the neighboring province and next potential candidate for mountain pine beetle infestation. Including an examination of how climate change may impact the boreal forest is needed to better understand potential changes in this novel ecological region. In particular, a greater understanding of how drought effects the boreal forest would also improve further



research. Finally, while the general circulation model CCSM4 is powerful in isolation, averaging this model with two to five additional models would help include a broader variance, potentially strengthening the model results.

Finally, turning to the mountain pine beetle and its future range, it is clear steady improvement in predictions are essential for the future preservation of boreal forest regions and the important forest product industries that are essential to the provinces' economy. It is hoped that this research will advance these goals and promote the invention of more effective monitoring procedures.



#### APPENDIX A

### MOUNTAIN PINE BEETLE PRESENCE DATA

Provided from the Forestry Division of Alberta Agriculture and Forestry Department, Forest Health Spatial Data (FHSD) provides information on forest health pests across Alberta, Canada. The mountain pine beetle heli-GPS data surveys are carried out by observers in rotary wing aircraft flying at low elevation and are conducted in known areas of mountain pine beetle activity. Heli-GPS surveys are used to intensively cover a specific area where management action is being contemplated. The aim is to record the boundaries of disturbance either by sing GPS or large-scale maps (1:50,000).

The heli-GPS surveys are generally competed on an annual basis, between August 15 and September 15. The data is delivered to Edmonton, Alberta by September 30. The survey data is generally collected using a computer tablet though paper maps and a hand held GPS unit may be utilized as a back up. Each year, the Forest Health Officer (FHO) will determine where to conduct Heli-GPS surveys based on where management action is considered for that specific year. Al Heli-GPS candidate areas in the Province are categorized into either Primary or Secondary Areas based on the anticipated level of control work for the year in question. The data standards for each Area are as follows:

For all heli-GPS surveys, the data is checked to ensure the following:

- Surveys are completed by September 15<sup>th</sup>
- GPS locations of points are within +/- 30 meters
- Polygon boundaries encompass all fading/red trees
- Polygon infestation severity is within +/- 10% of actual severity



Primary Areas (Generally in the leading edge zones)

- Only patches of three or more trees are GPSed unless the FHO directs surveyors to GPS patches of single or two red or fading trees. This can vary between years.
- The accuracy of the red tree counts are:

```
\circ 1 or 2 trees - +/- 0 trees \circ 3 - 10
```

trees - +/- 1 trees  $\circ$  11 - 24 trees - +/- 4

trees  $\circ$  25+ - +/- 10 trees

• 95% of all patches of >3 red trees are captured

Secondary Areas (usually in the active holding zones)

- Only patches of five or more trees are GPSed unless the FHO directs surveyor to GPS sites with less or more red trees. This varies from year to year.
- The accuracy of the red tree counts are:
  - $\circ$  5 25 trees +/- 5 trees  $\circ$  25+ trees
  - +/- 10 trees  $\circ$  95% of all patches of

>25 red trees are captured  $\circ$  80% of all

patches of >5 <25 red trees

Known Limitations of the Data:

- The areas surveyed each year (Primary/Secondary) can be different and therefore, year over year comparisons may be difficult.
- The surveyors do not ground truth all of the red trees identified. Therefore, it is not guaranteed that all of the red trees mapped are the result of MPB attack.



- The surveyors may not map tree patches less than three red trees in Primary areas and may not map patches smaller than five trees in Secondary areas. As a result, the dataset does not include all of the MPB killed trees.
- Grey attacked trees are not captured.
- The surveyors attempt to distinguish between "new" faders and "old" faders but the accuracy of this distinction is not guaranteed and therefore, the data may reflect several years and several generations of MPB attack.



# APPENDIX B

# MAXENT JACKKNIFE TEST RESULTS

Appendix B provides the jackknife test of variable importance results for each of the five Maxent models in this research.



Figure B.1: Jackknife results for Model A, based on the current climate



Figure B.2: Jackknife results for Model B, 2050, RCP 4.5 (moderate) climate scenario





Figure B.3: Jackknife results for Model C: 2050, RCP 8.5 (extreme) climate scenario



Figure B.4: Jackknife results for Model D: 2070, RCP 4.5 (moderate) climate scenario



Figure B.5: Jackknife results for Model E: 2070, RCP 8.5 (extreme) climate scenario



# REFERENCES

- Abrha, H., Birhane, E., Hagos, H., & Manaye, A. (2018). Predicting suitable habitats of endangered Juniperus procera tree under climate change in Northern Ethiopia Predicting suitable habitats of endangered Juniperus procera tree under climate change in Northern Ethiopia. *Journal of Sustainable Forestry*, 37(8), 842–853. https://doi.org/10.1080/10549811.2018.1494000
- Addison, A., Powell, J., Bentz., et al. (2015). Integrating models to investigate critical phenological overlaps in complex ecological interactions: The mountain pine beetlefungus symbiosis. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 368, 55-66. doi: 10.1016/j.jtbi.2014.12.011
- Aitken, S. N., Yeaman, S., Holliday, J. A., Wang, T., Curtis-McLane, S. (2008). Adaptation, migration or extirpation: Climate change outcomes for tree populations. *Evolutionary Applications*, 1, 95-111.
- Alberta Agriculture and Forestry. (2016). Forest health and adaptation annual reports. Retrieved from https://www.alberta.ca/forest-health-and-adaptation-annual-reports.aspx
- Alberta Agriculture and Forestry. (2017, 11 03). *Alberta Open Data*. Retrieved from Mountain pine beetle aerial survey [map]: https://open.alberta.ca/publications/mountain-pinebeetle-aerial-survey-map#detailed

Alberta Agriculture and Forestry. (2018, March 1). Long-term strategy to reduce the threat of mountain pine beetle in Alberta. Retrieved from https://www.agric.gov.ab.ca/app21/forestrypage?cat1=Mountain%20Pine%20Beetle %20in%20Alberta&cat2=Alberta%27s%20Strategy&cat3=Long%20Term%20Strategy

Alberta Chambers of Commerce. (2016). Pine Beetle Management in Alberta.

Amman, G. D. (1969). Mountain pine beetle emergence in relation to depth of lodgepole pine bark. USDA Forest Service, Intermountain Forest and Range Experiment Station, Ogden UT, Research Note INT-96.



- Amman, G. (1978). Biology, ecology, and causes of outbreaks of the mountain pine beetle in lodgepole pine forests. Pages 31-53 *in* D. L. Kibbee, A. A. Berryman, G. D. Amman, and R. W. Stark, editors. Theory and practice of mountain pine beetle management in lodgepole pine forests, Pullman, Washington, April 25-27, 1978. University of Idaho, Moscow, Idaho, USA.
- Araujo, M., & Peterson, A. (2012). Uses and misuses of bioclimatic envelope modeling. *Ecology*, 1527-1539.
- Aukema, B.H., Carroll, A.L., Zhu, J., Raffa, K.F., Sickley, T.A., Taylor, S.W. (2006) Landscape level analysis of mountain pine beetle in British Columbia, Canada: spatiotemporal development and spatial synchrony within the present outbreak. *Ecography*, 29, 427-441.
- Aukema, B., Carroll, A., Zheng, Y., Zhu, J., Raffa, K., Moore, R., Stahl, K., Taylor, S. (2008). Movement of outbreak populations of mountain pine beetle: influences of spatiotemporal patterns and climate. *Ecography*, 31, 348-358.
- Baldwin, R. A. (2009). Use of Maximum Entropy Modeling in Wildlife Research, 854–866. https://doi.org/10.3390/e11040854
- Barbet-Massin, M., Rome, Q., Villemant, C., & Courchamp, F. (2018). Can species distribution models really predict the expansion of invasive species? *PLoS ONE*, 13(3), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0193085
- Bartell, N. (2008). A microsatellite analysis of the western Canadian mountain pine beetle (*Dendroctonus ponderosae*) epidemic: phylogeography and long-distance dispersal patterns. M. Sc. Thesis, University of Northern British Columbia, Prince George, British Columbia.
- Bentz, B. J., et al. (1991). Temperature-dependent developent of the mountain pine beetle (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) and the use of patch metrics to estimate traversability. *Canadian Entomologist*, 123, 1083-1094.
- Bentz, B. J., and Mullins. (1999). Ecology of mountain pine beetle (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) and simulation of its phenology. *The Canadian Entomologist*, 123, 1083-1094. doi:10.4039/Ent1231083-5



- Bentz, B. J., et al. (2009). Bark beetle outbreaks in western North America: Causes and consequences. University of Utah Press.
- Bentz, B., Kegley, S., Gibson, K. (2009). Forest Insect & Disease Leaflet 2. http://www.fs.fed.us/r6/nr/fid/fidls/fidl-2.pdf
- Bentz, B. J., Régnière, J., Fettig, C. J., Hansen, E. M., Hayes, J. L., Hicke, J. A., Seybold, S. J. (2010). Climate Change and Bark Beetles of the Western United States and Canada: Direct and Indirect Effects. *BioScience*, 60(8), 602–613. https://doi.org/10.1525/bio.2010.60.8.6
- Billings, R. F., & Gara, R. I. (1975). Rhythmic emergence of *Dendroctonus ponderosae* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) from two host species. *Annals of the Entomological Society of America*, 68, 1033-1036.
- Bleiker, K., Hezewijk, B.H. (2016). Flight period of mountain pine beetle (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) in its recently expanded range. *Environmental Entomology*, 45(6), 1561 – 1567. doi:10.1093/ee/nvw121
- Bleiker, K. P., Smith, G. D., & Humble, L. M. (2017). Cold tolerance of mountain pine beetle (coleoptera: Curculionidae) eggs from the historic and expanded ranges. *Environmental Entomology*, 46(5), 1165–1170. https://doi.org/10.1093/ee/nvx127
- BMCCA. (2019). Climate Change in Alberta. Retrieved from http://biodiversityandclimate. abmi.ca/about-climate-change/
- Boone, C. K., Six, D. L., & Raffa, K. F. (2008). The enemy of my enemy is still my enemy: Competitors add to predator load of a tree-killing bark beetle. *Agricultural and Forest Entomology*, *10*(4), 411–421. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-9563.2008.00402.x
- Bossenbroek, J., Kraft, C., & Nekola, J. (2001). Prediction of long-distance dispersal using gravity models: Zebra mussel invasion of inland lakes. *Ecological Applications*, 17781788.



- British Columbia Ministry of Finance. (2013). British Columbia Financial and Economic Review 2013. Retrieved from http://www.fin.gov.bc.ca/tbs/F&Ereview13.pdf
- British Columbia Ministry of Forests. (2012, April). Lands and Natural Resource Operations. Retrieved from www.for.gov.bc.ca/hfp/mountain\_pine\_beetle/Updated-BeetleFacts\_April2013.pdf
- British Columbia Ministry of Forests. 2003-4. Summary of forest health conditions in British Columbia. Victoria, BC.
- Campbell, E. M., Alfaro, R., & Hawkes, B. (2007). Spatial distribution of mountain pine beelte outbreaks in relation to climate and stand characteristics: a dendroecological analysis. *Journal of INtegrative Plant Biology*, 168-178.
- Carroll, A. L., Taylor, S. W., Regnier. J., Safranyik, L. (2004). Effects of climate and climate change on the mountain pine beetle. In: Shore, T. L., Brooks, J. E., Stone, J. E. (Eds.). Challenges and Solutions: Proceedings of the Mountain Pine Beetle Symposium. Kelowna, British Columbia, Canada. October 30-31, 2003. Info. Rep. No. BC-X-399. Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Pacific Forestry Centre, Victoria, BC, pp. 221-230.
- Carroll, A. L., Aukema, B. H., Raffa, K. F., Linton, D. A., Smith, G. D., & Lindgren, B. S. (2006). Mountain pine beetle outbreak development: the endemic - incipient epidemic transition, (May 2014), 27.
- Chen, H., Jackson, P. L., Ott, P. K., Spittlehouse, D. L., (2015). A spatiotemporal pattern analysis of potential mountain pine beetle emergence in British Columbia, Canada. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 337, 11-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2014.10.034</u>
- Clark, J. (1998). Why trees migrate so fast: confronting theory with dispersal biology and the paleorecord. *The American Naturalist*, 152, 204-224
- Clark, J., Lewis, M., Horvath, L. (2001). Invasion by extremes: population spread with variation in dispersal and reproduction. *The American Naturalist*, 157, 537-554.



- Colorado State University. (2017, January). 2016 Report on the Health of Colorado's Forests. Retireved from https://csfs.colostate.edu/media/sites/22/2017/03/CSU\_304464\_ ForestReport-2016-www.pdf
- Cooke, B. J., & Carroll, A. L. (2017). Predicting the risk of mountain pine beetle spread to eastern pine forests: Considering uncertainty in uncertain times. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 396, 11–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2017.04.008
- Corbett, L., Withey, P., Lantz, V., et al. (2016). The economic impact of the mountain pine beetle infestation in British Columbia: Provincial estimates from a CGE analysis. *Forestry*, *89*(1), 100-105.
- Cruywagen, G., Kareiva, P., Lewis, M., & Murray, J. (1996). Competition in a spatially heterogeneous environment: modeling risk of spread of a genetically engineered population. *Theoretical Population Biology*, 1-38.
- Cudmore, T., Bjorklund, N., Carroll, A., & Lindgren, B. (2010). Climate change and range expansion of an aggressive bark beetle: evidence of higher beetle reproduction in naive host tree populations. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 161-171.
- Cullingham, C. I., Cooke, J. E. K., Dang, S., Davis, C. S., Cooke, B. J., & Coltman, D. W. (2011). Mountain pine beetle host-range expansion threatens the boreal forest. *Molecular Ecology*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2011.05086.x
- Dale, V. H., Joyce, L. A., McNulty, S. (2001). Climate change and forest disturbance. *BioScience*, *51*, 723-734.
- de la Giroday, H. -M. C., Carroll, A. L., Aukema, B. H. (2012). Breach of the northern Rocky Mountain geoclimatic barrier: initiation of range expansion by the mountain pine beetle. *Journal of Biogeography*, 39, 1112 – 1123.
- DellaSalla, D., Moola, F., Alaback, P., Paquet, C., Schoen, J., Noss, R. (2011). Temperate and boreal rainforests of the Pacific Coast of North America. In: DellaSala DA (ed.) *Termerate and boreal rainforests of the world: ecology and conservation*, pp. 42-81. Washington, DC: Island Press.



- Dennison, P., Brunelle, A., & Carter, V. (2010). Assessing canopy mortality during a mountain pine beetle outbreak using GeoEye-1 high spatial resolution satellite data. *Remote Sensing* of the Environment, 2431-2435.
- Dowling, C. R. (2015). Using Maxent Modeling to Predict Habitat of Mountain Pine Beetle in Response to Climate Change.
- Early, R., Sax, D. (2014). Climate niche shifts between species' native and naturalized ranges raise concern for ecological forecasts during invasions and climate change. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 23, 1356-1365.
- Elith, J., Graham, C. H., Anderson, R. P., Dudi'k, M., Ferrier, S., Guisan, A., Hijmans, R. J., Huettmann, F., Leathwick, J. R., Lehmann, A., Li, J., Lohmann, L. G., Loiselle, B. A., Manion, G., Moritz, C., Nakamura, M., Nakazawa, Y., Overton, J. McC., Peterson, A. T., Phillips, S. J., Richardson, K. S., Scachetti-Pereira, R., Schapire, R. E., Sobero'n, J., Williams, S., Wisz, M. S. and Zimmermann, N. E. (2006). Novel methods improve prediction of species' distributions from occurrence data. *Ecography*, 29, 129-151.
- Evangelista, P. H., Kumar, S., Stohlgren, T. J., & Young, N. E. (2011). Assessing forest vulnerability and the potential distribution of pine beetles under current and future climate scenarios in the Interior West of the US. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 262(3), 307– 316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2011.03.036
- Faccoli, M. (2009). Effect of weather on Ips typograhs (Coleoptera Curculionidae) phenology, voltinism, and associated spruce mortality in the southeastern Alps. *Environmental Entomology*, 307-316.
- Ferrari, J. R., Preisser, E. L., & Fitzpatrick, M. C. (2014). Modeling the spread of invasive species using dynamic network models. *Biological Invasions*, 16(4), 949–960. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-013-0552-6
- Fitzpatrick, M. C., Gove, A. D., Sanders, N. J. & Dunn, R. R. (2008). Climate change, plant migration, and range collapse in a global biodiversity hotspot: the *Banksia* (Proteaceae) of Western Australia. *Global Change Biology*, 14, 1337-1352. doi:10.1111/j.13652486.2008.01559.x



- Fleming, R. A., Candau, J. N., McAlpine, R. S. (2002). Landscape-scale analysis of interactions between insect defoliation and forest fire in Central Canada. *Climate Change*, 55, 145170.
- Flint, C. G., McFarlane, B., & Muller, M. (2009). Human dimensions of forest disturbance by insects: an international synthesis. *Environmental Management*, 1174-1186.
- Furniss, M. M. & Furniss, R. L. (1972). Scolytids (Coleoptera) on snowfields above timerline in Oregon and Washington. *The Canadian Entomologist*, 104, 1471-1478.
- Gallien, L., Douzet, R., Pratte, S., Zimmermann, N. E., & Thuiller, W. (2012). Invasive species distribution models - how violating the equilibrium assumption can create new insights. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 21(11), 1126–1136. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.14668238.2012.00768.x
- Garcia-Ramos, G., & Rodriguez, D. (2002). Evolutionary speed of species invasions. *Evolution*, 661-668.
- Gilbert, M., Gegoire, J.-C., Freise, J. F., & Heitland, W. (2004). Long-distance dispersal and human population density allow the prediction of invasive patterns in the horse chestnut leafminer Cameraria ohridella. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 459-468.
- Gilbert, M., & Liebhold, A. (2010). Comparing methods for measuring the rate of spread of invading populations. *Ecography*, 33(5), 809–817. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.16000587.2009.06018.x
- Gomes, V. H. F., Ijff, S. D., Raes, N., Amaral, I. L., Salomão, R. P., Coelho, L.; Ter Steege, H. (2018). Species Distribution Modelling: Contrasting presence-only models with plot abundance data. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-01718927-1
- Government of Alberta. (2013). *Economic Impact of Alberta's Forest Sector*. Retrieved from https://www.albertacanada.com/AlbertaForestSector-2012EconomicImpact.pdf
- Graham, C., Ferrier, S., Huettman, F., Moritz, C., Peterson, A. (2004). New developments in nuseum-based informatics and applications in biodiversity analysis. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 19, 497-503.



- Guisan, A., & Zimmermann, N. (2000). Predictive habitat distribuiton models in ecology. *Ecological Modelling*, 135:147-186.
- Guisan, A., & Thuiller, W. (2005). Predicting species distribution: offering more than simple habitat models. *Ecology Letters*, *8*, 993-1009.
- Hart, S. J., Veblen, T. T., Schneider, D., & Molotch, N. P. (2017). Summer and winter drought drive the initiation and spread of spruce beetle outbreak. *Ecology*, 98(10), 2698–2707. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.1963
- Hastings, A., Cuddington, K., Davies, K. F., Dugaw, C. J., Elmendorf, S., Freestone, A., ... Thomson, D. (2005). The spatial spread of invasions: New developments in theory and evidence. *Ecology Letters*, 8(1), 91–101. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.14610248.2004.00687.x
- Havel, J., Shurin, J., Jones, J. (2002). Estimating dispersal patterns of spread: spatial and local control of lake invasions. *Ecology*, *83*, 3306-3318.
- Heavilin, J., Powell, J., Logan, J. (2007). Dynamics of mountain pine beetle outbreaks. *Plant Disturbance Ecology*, 527-553.
- Heikkinen, R. K., Luoto, M., Araújo, M. B., Virkkala, R., Thuiller, W., & Martin, T. (2006). Methods and uncertainties in bioclimatic envelope modelling under climate change, *6*, 751–777.
- Hengeveld, R. (1989). Dynamics of Biological Invasions. London: Chapman and Hall Ltd.
- Higgins, S.I., Richardson, D.M. & Cowling, R.M. (1996). Modeling invasive plant spread: The role of plant–environment interactions and model structure. *Ecology*, 77, 2043-2053.
- Hijmans, R., Cameron, S., Parra, J., Jones, P., Jarvis, A. (2005). Very high resolution interpolated climate surfaces for global land areas. *International Journal of Climatology*, 25, 1965-1978.



- Hiratsuka, Y., Cerezke, H. F., Moody, B. H., Petty, J., Still, G. N. (1982). Forest insect and disease conditions in Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba and the Northwest Territories in 1981 and predictions for 1982. Canadian Forestry Service Information Report NOR-X239.
- Hynum, B. G., Berryman, A. A. (1980). Dendroctonus ponderosae (Coleoptera: Scolytidae): preaggregation landing and gallery initiation on lodgepole pine. The Canadian Entomologist, 112, 185-191.
- IPCC. (2007). Climate Change 2007: The physical science basis summary for policymakers. IPCC WGI 4<sup>th</sup> Assessment Report, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Geneva, Switzerland.
- IPCC. (2014). Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II, and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, R. K. Pachauri and L. A. Meyer (eds)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, 151 pp.

Jaakkola, H. (1996). Comparison and analysis of diffusion models. *Diffusion and Adoption of Information Technology*, 65–82. Retrieved from http://download.springer.com/static/pdf/355/chp%253A10.1007%252F978-0-387-349824\_6.pdf?originUrl=http%3A%2F%2Flink.springer.com%2Fchapter%2F10.1007%2 F9780-387-34982-4\_6&token2=exp=1490438189~acl=%2Fstatic%2Fpdf%2F355%2Fchp%25253A10.1007%25252F978-0-387-

- Jackson, P. L., Straussfogel, D., Lindgren, B. S., Mitchell, S., Murphy, B. (2008). Radar observation and aerial capture of mountain pine beetle *Dendroctonus ponderosae* Hopk. (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) in flight about the forest canopy. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 38(8), 2313-2327.
- Jenkins, M. J., Runyon, J. B., Fettig, C. J., Page, W. G., & Bentz, B. J. (2014). Interactions among the mountain pine beetle, fires, and fuels. *Forest Science*, 489-501.
- Jenni, L. & Kery, M. (2003). Timing of autumn bird migration under climate change: advances in long–distance migrants, delays in short–distance migrants. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 270(1523), 1467-1471.



- Johnson, D.W. (1982). Forest pest management training manual. Lakewood, CO: U.S. Mahajan, V., Muller, E., & Bass, F. M. (1990). New Product Diffusion Models in Marketing: A Review and Directions for Research. *Journal of Marketing*, 1-26.
- Jules, E., Kauffman, M., Ritts, W., Carroll, A. (2002). Spread of an invasive pathogen over a variable landscape: a nonnative root rot on Port Orford cedar. *Ecology*, *83*, 3167-3181.
- Kolb, T. E., Fettig, C. J., Ayres, M. P., Bentz, B. J., Hicke, J. A., Mathiasen, R., & al., e. (2016). Observed and anticipated impacts of drought on forest insects and diseases in the United States. *Forest Ecology and Management*.
- Koot, P. (1997). Overview aerial survey standards for British Columbia and the Yukon Forest Health Network Report 97-1. Victoria, British Columbia, Canada, Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, 1-14.
- Kumar, S., & Stohlgren, T. (2009). Maxent modeling for predicting suitable habitat for threatened and endangered tree Canacomyrica monticola in New Caledonia. *Journal of Ecology and Natural Environment*, 94-98.
- Kurz, W. A., Dymond, C. C., Stinson, G., Rampley, G. J., Neilson, E. T., Carroll, A. L., Ebata, T., Safranyik, L. (2008). Mountain pine beetle and forest carbon feedback to climate change. *Nature*, 452, 987-990.
- Legates, D. (2014). Climate models and their simulation of precipitation. *Energy & Environment*, 1163-1175.
- Liang, L., Hawbaker, T. J., Chen, Y., Zhu, Z., & Gong, P. (2014). Characterizing recent and projecting future potential patterns of mountain pine beetle outbreaks in the Southern Rocky Mountains. *Applied Geography*, 55, 165–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2014.09.012
- Liang, L., Li, X., Huang, Y., Qin, Y., & Huang, H. (2017). Integrating remote sensing, GIS and dynamic models for landscape-level simulation of forest insect disturbance. *Ecological Modelling*, 354, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOLMODEL.2017.03.007



- Liebhold, A. M., Haverson, J. A., & Elmes, G. A. (1992). Gypsy moth invasion in North America: a quantitative analysis. *Journal of Biogeography*, 513-520.
- Liebhold, A. M., & Tobin, P. (2008). Population ecology of insect invasions and their management. *Annual Review of Entomology*, 387-408.
- Logan, J., & Bentz, B. (1999). Model analysis of mountain pine beetle (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) seasonality. *Environmental Entomology*, 28, 924-934.
- Logan, J., Powell, J. (2001). Ghost forests, global warming and the mountain pine beetle. *American Entomologist*, 47, 160-172.
- Logan, J., & Powell, J. (2003). Modelling Mountain Pine Beetle Phenological Response to Temperature. *Mountain Pine Beetle Symposium: Challenges and Solutions* (pp. 210-222).
  Kelowna, British Columbia: Natural Resources Canada, Candian Forest Service, Pacific Forestry Centre.
- Long, J. A., & Lawrence, R. L. (2016). Mapping percent tree mortality due to mountain pine beetle damage. *Forest Science*, 62(4), 392–402. https://doi.org/10.5849/forsci.15-046
- MA. 2005. Ecosystems and Human Well-Being: Synthesis In: Millenium Ecosystem Assessment. Island Press.
- MacArther, R. H. (1972). *Geographical ecology: patterns in the distributions of species*. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ.
- Maguire, D. Y., James, P. M., Buddle, C. M., & Bennett, E. M. (2015). Landscape connectivity and insect herbiovry: a framework for understanding tradeoffs among ecosystem services. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 73-84.
- Mahajan, V., Muller, E., & Bass, F. M. (1990). New Product Diffusion Models in Marketing: A Review and Directions for Research. *Journal of Marketing*, 1-26.
- Marco, D. & Paez, S. (2000). Invasion of *Gleditsia triacanthos* in *Lithraea ternifolia* montane forests of central Argentina. *Environmental Management*, 26, 409-419.



- Marinissen, J., & van den Bosch, F. (1992). Colonization of new habitats by earthworms. *Oecologia*, 91, 371-376.
- McGregor, M. D. (1985). The conflict between people and the beetle. *In* Insect and disease conditions in the United States. (Ed. By R. C. Loomis, S. Tucker and T. H. Hoffacker.) United States Forest Service General Report WO-46.
- Medley, K. (2010). Niche shifts during the global invasion of the Asian tiger mostquito, Aededs albopictus Skuse (Culicidae), revealed by reciprocal distrubtion models. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 19.
- Meigs, G. W., Kennedy, R. E., Gray, A. N., & J, G. M. (2015). Spatiotemporal dynamics of recent mountain pine beetle and western spruce budworm outreaks across the Pacific Northwest Region, USA. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 71-86.
- Mitton, J. B., & Ferrenberg, S. M. (2012). Mountain pine beetle develops and unprecedented summer generation in response to climate warming. *American Naturalist*, *179*, E163E171.
- Morris, J. L., Cottrell, S., Fettig, C. J., Hansen, W. D., Sherriff, R. L., Carter, V. A., Seybold, S. J. (2017). Managing bark beetle impacts on ecosystems and society: priority questions to motivate future research. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 54(3), 750–760. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12782
- Muirhead, J. R., Leung, B., van Overdijk, C., Kelly, D. W., Nandakumar, K., Marchant, K. R., & MacIsaac, H. J. (2006). Modelling local and long distance dispersal of invasive emerald ash borer Agrilus planipennis (Coleoptera) in North America. *Diversity and Distributions*, 71-79.
- Nelson, T. A., Boots, B., Wulder, M. A. & Carroll, A. L. (2007). The environmental characteristics of mountain pine beetle infestation hot spots. *British Colubia Journal of Ecosystems & Management*, 8, 91-108.
- Papes, Mona. (2018). Applications of Spatial Data: Ecological Niche Modeling. Day 2: Maxent Introduction [video file]. Retrieved from https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qUlgYdSSyik



- Parravicini, V., Azzurro, E., Kulbicki, M., Belmaker, J. (2015). Niche shift can impair the ability to predict invasion risk in the marine realm: an illustration using Mediterranean fish invaders. *Ecology Letters*, 18, 246-253.
- Paremsan, C., & Yohe, G. (2003). A globally coherent fingerprint of climate change impacts across natural systems. *Nature*, 421, 37-42.
- Parmesan, C. (2005). Detection at multiple levels: *Euphydryas editha* and climate change. *Climate Change and Biodiversity*. (ed. By T. E. Lovejoy and L. Hannah). Yale University Press, New Haven, CT.
- Parmesan, C. (2006). Ecological and evolutionary responses to recent climate change. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution and Systematics, 37*, 637-669.
- Pearson, R. G., Dawson, T. P. (2003). Predicting impacts of climate change on distribution of species: are bioclimate envelope models useful? *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 12, 361-371.
- Pedersen, L. (2003). How serious is the mountain pine beetle problem? From a timber supply perspective. Challenges and Solutions: Proceedings of the Mountain Pine Beetle Symposium. Kelowna, British Columbia, Canada. October 30-31, 2003. Info. Rep. No. BC-X-399. Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Pacific Forestry Centre, Victoria, BC, pp. 221-230.
- Perez, L., & Dragicevic, S. (2010). Modeling mountain pine beetle infestation with an agentbased approach at two spatial scales. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 25(2), 223–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVSOFT.2009.08.004
- Pérez, L., & Dragićević, S. (2011). ForestSimMPB: A swarming intelligence and agent-based modeling approach for mountain pine beetle outbreaks. *Ecological Informatics*, 6(1), 62– 72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoinf.2010.09.003
- Phillips, S., Anderson, R., & Schapire, R. (2006). Maximum entropy modeling of species geographic distributions. *Ecological Modelling*, 231–259. https://doi.org/10.1561/2200000016



- Phillips, S., & Dudik, M. (2008). Modeling of species distributions with Maxent: new extensions and a comprehensive evaluation.*Ecography*, 31(2).
- Prairie Climate Centre. (2017, October 19). New maps highlight changes coming to Canada's climate. Retrieved from http://prairieclimatecentre.ca/2017/10/new-map-serieshighlights-changes-coming-to-canadas-climate/.
- Raffa, K. F. & Berryman, A. A. (1982). Accumulation of monoterpenes and associated volatiles following inoculation of Grand Fir with a fungus transmitted by the fir engraver, scolytus ventralis (coleoptera: Scolytidae). *The Canadian Entomologist*, 797-808.
- Raffa, K. F., Aukema, B. H., Bentz, B. J., Carroll, A. L., Hicke, J. A., Turner, M., Romme, W. H. (2008). Cross-scale drivers of natural disturbances prone to anthropogenic amplification: the dynamics of bark beetle eruptions. *BioSciences*, 58, 501-517.
- Raghavan, R. K., Peterson, T., Marlon, C., Ganta, R., & Foley, D. (2019). Current and Future Distribution of the Lone Star Tick , Amblyomma americanum (L.) (Acari : Ixodidae ) in North America. *PLoS ONE*, 14(1), 1–14.
- Rahmandad, H., & Sterman, J. (2008). Heterogeneity and Network Structure in the Dynamics of Diffusion: Comparing Agent-Based and Differential Equation Models. *Management Science*, 998-1014.
- Reeves, S. A., & Usher, M. B. (1989). Application of a diffusion model to the spread of an invasive species: the coypu in Great Britain. *Ecological Modeling*, 47(3–4), 217–232.
- Régnière, J., & Bentz, B. (2007). Modeling cold tolerance in the mountain pine beetle, Dendroctonus ponderosae. *Journal of Insect Physiology*, 53(6), 559–572. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JINSPHYS.2007.02.007
- Reid, R. W. (1962). Biology of the mountain pine beetle, *Dendroctonus monticolae* Hopkins, in the east Kootenay region of British Columbia I. life cycle, brood development and flight periods. *The Canadian Entomologist*, 94, 531-538.



- Renner, I., & Warton, D. (2013). Equivalence of MAXENT and Poisson Point Process Models for Species Distribution Modeling in Ecology. *Biometrics*, 274-281.
- Robertson, C., Nelson, T. A., Jelinski, D. E., Wulder, M. A., & Boots, B. (2009). Spatialtemporal analysis of species range expansion: The case of the mountain pine beetle, Dendroctonus ponderosae. *Journal of Biogeography*, 36(8), 1446–1458. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2009.02100.x
- Rochlin, I., Ninivaggi, D. V, Hutchinson, M. L., & Farajollahi, A. (2013). Climate Change and Range Expansion of the Asian Tiger Mosquito (Aedes albopictus) in Northeastern USA: Implications for Public Health Practitioners, 8(4), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0060874
- Rosenberger, D. W., Venette, R. C., & Aukema, B. H. (2017). Development of an aggressive bark beetle on novel hosts: Implications for outbreaks in an invaded range. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 55(3), 1526–1537. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13064
- Root, T. L., Price, J. T., Hall, K. R., Schneider, S. H., Rosenzweig, C. & Pounds, J. A. (2003). Fingerprints of global warming on wild animals and plants. *Nature*, *421*, 57-60.
- Safranyik, L., & Jahren, R. (1970). Emergence patterns of the mountain pine beetle from lodgepole pine. *Bi-Monthly Research Notes*, 26(2), 11-19.
- Safranyik, L. (1971). Some characteristics of the spatial arrangement of attacks by the mountain pine beetle, dendroctonus ponderosae (coleoptera: Scolytidae), on lodgepole pine. *The Canadian Entomologist*, *103*(11), 1607-1625. 10.4039/Ent1031607-11 Retrieved from www.scopus.com
- Safranyik, L., Shrimpton, D. M., Whitney, H. S. (1974). Management of lodgepole pine to reduce losses from the mountain pine beetle. *Canadian Forest Service Technical Report*, 1-24.
- Safranyik, L.; Shrimpton, D.M.; Whitney, H.S. 1975. An interpretation of the interaction between lodgepole pine, the mountain pine beetle, and its associated blue stain fungi in western Canada. in D.M. Baumgartner, editor. Management of Lodgepole Pine Ecosystems Symposium Proceedings, October 9- 11, 1973, Pullman, Washington, USA. Washington State University Coop. Extension Service, Pullman, WA.


- Safranyik, L. (1978). Effects of climate and weather on mountain pine beetle populations. Pages 77-84 in A.A. Berryman, G.D. Amman, and R.W. Stark, Editors. Proceedings of Symposium on Theory and Practice of Mountain Pine Beetle Management in Lodgepole Pine Forests, April 25-27, 1978, Washington State University, Pullman, Washington. College of Forestry, Wildlife and Range Sciences, University of Idaho, Moscow, Idaho.
- Safranyik, L., Silversides, R., McMullen, L. H., & Linton, D. A. (1989). An empirical approach to modeling the local dispersal of the mountain pine beetle (dendroctonus ponderosae hopk.) (col., scolytidae) in relation to sources of attraction, wind direction and speed. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, 108(1-5), 498-511. 10.1111/j.1439-0418.1989.tb00484.x Retrieved from www.scopus.com
- Safranyik, L., Linton, D. A., Silversides, R., & McMullen, L. H. (1992). Dispersal of released mountain pine beetles under the canopy of a mature lodgepole pine stand. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, *113*(1-5), 441-450. 10.1111/j.1439-0418.1992.tb00687.x Retrieved from <u>www.scopus.com</u>
- Safranyik, L., & Carroll, A. (2006). The biology and epidemiology of the mountain pine beetle in lodgepole pine forests.. *The Mountain Pine Beetle: A Synthesis of Its Biology, Management and Impacts on Lodgepole Pine*, 3–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giec.2010.09.011
- Safranyik, L., Carroll, A. L., Régnière, J., Langor, D. W., Riel, W. G., Shore, T. L., Taylor, S. W. (2010). Potential for range expansion of mountain pine beetle into the boreal forest of North America. *The Canadian Entomologist*, 142(05), 415–442. https://doi.org/10.4039/n08-CPA01
- Sambaraju, K. R., Carroll, A. L., Zhu, J., Stahl, K., Moore, R. D., & Aukema, B. H. (2012). Climate change could alter the distribution of mountain pine beetle outbreaks in western Canada. *Ecography*, *35*(3), 211–223. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2011.06847.x
- Samman, S. & Logan, J. A. (2000). Assessment and response to bark beetle outbreaks in the Rocky Mountain area: A report to Congress from Forest Health Protection. USDA Forest Service, RMRS-GTR-62, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Fort Collins, CO.



- Sanchez-Martinez, G. & Wagner, M. R. (2002). Bark beetle community structure under four ponderosa pine forest stand conditions in northern Arizona. *Forest Ecology Management*, 170, 145-160.
- Schmid, J. M. (1972). Emergence, attack densities and seasonal trends of mountain pine beetle (*Dendroctonus ponderosae*) in the Black Hills. USDA Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Forest and Range Experiment Station, Fort Collins, CO, Research Note RM-211,
- Scotia, N., & Brown, A. (2017). Emigration, immigration and metamorphosis spruce beetle outbreak in Omineca region of northern BC. *Bugs & Diseases, 28*(3).
- Seidl, R., Müller, J., Hothorn, T., Bässler, C., Heurich, M., & Kautz, M. (2016). Small beetle, large-scale drivers: How regional and landscape factors affect outbreaks of the European spruce bark beetle. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 53(2), 530–540. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12540
- Shigesada, N., Kawasaki, K, Teramoto, E. (1986). Traveling periodic waves in heterogeneous environments. *Theoretical Population Biology*, *30*, 143-160.
- Shigesada, N., Kawasaki, K., & Takeda, Y. (1995). Modeling Stratified Diffusion in Biological Invasions. *American Society of Naturalists*, 146(2), 229–251.
- Shigesada, N., & Kawasaki, K. (1997). *Biological Invasions: Theory and Practice*. Oxford University Press.
- Shrimpton, D. M., & Thomas, A. J. (1985). Relatinship between phloem thicknes nd lodgepole pine growth characteristics. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 15, 1004-1008. doi:10.1139/x85-161.
- Sidder, A. M., Kumar, S., Laituri, M., Sibold, J. S., (2016). Using spatiotemporal correlative niche models for evaluating the effects of climate change on mountain pine beetle. *Ecography*, 7(7), 1–22. https://doi.org/e01396. 10.1002/ecs2.1396
- Six, D. L. ., Vergobbi, C., & Cutter, M. (2018). Are Survivors Different? Genetic-Based Selection of Trees by Mountain Pine Beetle During a Climate Change-Driven Outbreak in a. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 9(July), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.00993



Skellam, J. (1951). Random dispersal in theoreteical populations. *Biometrika*, 38, 196-218.

- Smith, D.L., Lucey, B., Waller, L.A., Childs, J.E. & Real, L.A. (2002). Predicting the spatial dynamics of rabies epidemics on heterogeneous landscapes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99, 3668–3672.
- Suarez, A., Holway, D., & Case, T. (2001). Patterns of spread in biological invasions dominated by long-distance jump dispersal: Isights from Argentine ants. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 1095-1100.
- Taylor, S. W., Carroll, A. L. (2004). Disturbance, forest age dynamics and mountain pine beetle outbreaks in BC: a historical perspective. In: Shore, T. L., Brooks, J. E., Stone, J. E. (Eds.). Challenges and Solutions: Proceedings of the Mountain Pine Beetle Symposium. Kelowna, British Columbia, Canada. October 30-31, 2003. Can. For. Serv. Inf. Rep. BCX-399.
- Tobin, P. C., Cremers, K. T., Hunt, L., & Parry, D. (2016). All quiet on the western front? Using phenological inference to detect the presence of a latent gypsy moth invasion in Northern Minnesota. *Biological Invasions*, 18(12), 3561–3573. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530016-1248-5
- Tobin, P. C., Liebhold, A. M., Roberts, E. A., & Blackburn, L. M. (2015). Estimating spread rates of non-native species: The gypsy moth as a case study. *Pest Risk Modelling and Mapping for Invasive Alien Species*, 131–144. https://doi.org/10.1079/9781780643946.0131
- USDA Forest Service. (2011, September). Review of the Forest Service Response: The Bark Beetle Outbreak in Northern Colorado and Southern Wyoming. Retrieved from https://www.fs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE\_DOCUMENTS/stelprdb5340736.pdf
- USDA Forest Service. (2014, July 28). *Bark Beetles*. Retrieved from Research & Development: <u>https://www.fs.fed.us/research/invasive-species/insects/bark-beetle/</u>
- USDA Forest Service. (2015). *Aerial survey highlights for Colorado 2014*. Retrieved from http://www.fs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE\_DOCUMENTS/stelprd3828662.pdf



- USDA Forest Service. (2017). Aerial Survey Highlights for Colorado 2017. Retrieved from https://www.fs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE\_DOCUMENTS/fseprd569850.pdf
- Veit, R., & Lewis, M. (1996). Dispersal, population growth, and the Allee effect: dynamics of the house finch invasion of eastern North America. *The American Naturalist, 148,* 255-274.
- Venette, R. C. (Ed.). (2015). *Pest risk modelling and mapping for invasive alien species* (Vol. 7). Oxfordshire, UK; Boston, MA: USDA Forest Service.
- Venette, R. C. (2015). The Challenge of Modelling and Mapping the Future DIstribution and Impact of Invasive Alien Species. *USDA Forest Service*, 1-17.
- Walton, A., (2012). Provincial-level projection of the current mountain pine beetle outbreak: update of the infestation projection based on the provincial aerial overview surveys of forest health conducted from 1999 through 2011 and the BCMPB Model (Year 9) Unpublished rep. British Columbia Forest Service, BC <u>http://www.for.gov.bc.ca/ftp/hre/external/!oublish/web/bcmpb/year9/BCMPB.v9.BeetleP</u> <u>rojection.Update.pdf</u>
- West, D., Briggs, J., Jacobi, W., Negron, J. (2016). Mountain pine beetle host selection between lodgepole and ponderosa pines in the Southern Rocky Mountains. *Environmental Entomology*, 45, 127-141. doi: 10.1093/ee/nvv167
- Westfall, J. (2007). 2006 Summary of forest health conditions in British Columbia. Forest Practices Branch, Ministry of Forests, Victoria, BC, Canada.
- Winston, M. L. (1992). The biology and management of Africanized honey bees. *Annual Review* of Entomology, 173-193.
- With, K.A. (2002). The landscape ecology of invasive spread. *Conservation Biology*, *16*, 1192–1203.
- Woldemeskel, F. M., Sharma, A., Sivakumar, B., & Mehrotra, R. (2015). Journal of Geophysical Research : Atmospheres, 3–17. https://doi.org/10.1002/2015JD023719.Received



- Wulder, M. A., Dymond, C. C., White, J. C., Leckie, D. G., & Carroll, A. L. (2006). Surveying mountain pine beetle damage of forests: A review of remote sensing opportunities. *Forest Ecology and Management*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2005.09.021
- Wulder, M., White, J. C., Coops, N. C., Han, T., Alvarez, M. F., Butson, C. R., & Yuan, X. (2006). A Procedure for Mapping and Monitoring Mountain Pine Beetle Red Attack Forest Damage using Landsat Imagery. Victoria, British Columbia. Retrieved from http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.544.4648&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Zhang, K., Yao, L., Meng, J., & Tao, J. (2018). Science of the Total Environment Maxent modeling for predicting the potential geographical distribution of two peony species under climate change. *Science of the Total Environment*, 634, 1326–1334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.04.112

